
3

Many Devices. One Solution.

AnnuAl RepORt 2012



Letter to Shareholders     1

Management’s Discussion and Analysis   2

Independent Auditor’s Report    52

Consolidated Financial Statements   53

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 57

Forward-looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements relate to, among other things, the expected performance, functionality
and availability of our services and products, and other expectations, intentions and plans contained in this report that are not historical fact. When used in this report, the words “plan,”
“expect,” “believe,” and similar expressions generally identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current expectations. They are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including, but not limited to, changes in technology and general market conditions. In light of the many risks and uncertainties you should understand that we cannot assure you
that the forward-looking statements contained in this report will be realized. These statements speak only as of the date of this report or as of the date specified in the documents 
incorporated by reference into this report and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable securities laws.
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Fiscal 2012 review
Fiscal 2012 was another exciting year for Absolute Software. We 
raised our profile as a major player in the endpoint security and 
management industry, and cemented our role as a technology 
leader. Our market positioning of “Many Devices; One Solution.” 
is clearly resonating with our customers. This translated into solid 
year-over-year growth, with Absolute performing well across all 
of our expansion markets: healthcare, corporate, government and 
international. Sales contracts were $88.7 million, up 12 per cent over 
fiscal 2011, and cash from operating activities was $18.9 million, up 
47 per cent.

Our core Computrace theft management offering, which arms 
customers with an on-demand emergency response system to 
perform remote forensic investigations on missing devices and assist 
in the identification and apprehension of persons responsible for 
device thefts, grew 7 per cent in fiscal 2012.  This was driven by the 
increasing awareness of the risks that lost or stolen devices pose 
to organizations with respect to data security and compliance with 
privacy regulations. 

Our data security and device management solutions, which include 
our Computrace Data Delete and Absolute Manage offerings, grew 
an impressive 67 per cent over last year and now represent 27 
per cent of our overall business.  Computrace allows customers 
to centrally track and secure all of their endpoints within a single 
cloud-based console. Computers and ultra-portable devices can be 
remotely managed and secured to ensure and prove that endpoint IT 
compliance processes are properly implemented and enforced.  With 
Absolute Manage, we help customers manage the proliferation of 
device types and platforms coming into their organizations.  Through 
a single console, our customers can manage their PC, Mac, iOS, 
Android and Windows Phone devices, regardless of whether they are 
corporate or employee owned.  Customers rave about the features of 
this product line and its straightforward usability. 

We achieved another milestone beyond our year-over-year growth 
during fiscal 2012.  Leading technology research firm, Gartner Inc., 
named us a “visionary” in their “Client Management Tools Magic 
Quadrant,” which identifies top competing players in the major 
technology markets. Of particular note, Absolute was ranked first of 
all vendors in the Magic Quadrant when it came to customer support.

Fiscal 2012 also was also a big year for product development. We 
launched numerous new market-leading features, and our broader 
portfolio now meets a larger range of customer requirements. We are 
actively helping organizations overcome new challenges surrounding 
the “Bring Your Own Device” trend and Mobile Device Management, 
with industry leading solutions such as secure document distribution, 
automated device enrolment and policy-based app installation.  

Over the past three years, we have built a solid sales foundation 
that is highly productive.   Annual operating costs have remained 
relatively flat since fiscal 2010, while sales have increased by 34 per 
cent. However, near the end of fiscal 2012, we decided it was time 
for us to invest more in key areas of the business to fuel continued 
growth. As such, in the fourth quarter, we increased our investment 
in sales and marketing and in research and development, with a 
goal to extend our reach and continue our market-leading product 
innovation. We expect to realize the benefits of these increased 
investments over time, beginning in the second half of fiscal 2013.

letter to Shareholders

Overall, our fiscal 2012 performance underscores the fact that 
Absolute is delivering compelling solutions to the market. We offer 
a complementary, yet diverse, range of products and services that 
addresses critical business challenges for organizations of all sizes. 
We have built our solution set and go-to-market approach upon 
unique competitive advantages – persistence, cross-platform support 
and strong OEM partner relationships – which we will continue to 
leverage to expand our offerings and drive growth.  And we solve 
issues that our competitors cannot. All of these factors bode well for 
our continued success.

the coming year
We believe fiscal 2013 will be another exciting year for Absolute. 
We are competing in a dynamic, $4 billion market, with the right 
solutions, strong, defensible competitive advantages, and a proven 
track record. We believe we are addressing a compelling market 
opportunity and are poised to emerge as a clear leader.

We entered fiscal 2013 with a three-pillar strategy:

First: capitalize on our go-to-market capability. We will focus on 
generating returns from our expanded investments in sales and 
marketing, both domestically and internationally, and across all 
targeted expansion markets (healthcare, corporate and government).

Second: fully capitalize on the mobile opportunity. We will continue 
to invest in and expand our Mobile Device Management and data-
security solution set to bring more new products and features to 
market.

third: lead the convergence of traditional computer lifecycle 
management and the rapidly evolving Mobile Device Management 
categories. We are the only company that offers device management 
coupled with cross-platform content-and-application management 
for all of the market-leading devices – PC, Mac, iOS, Android and 
Windows Phone – and we will continue to leverage this.

To conclude, I would like to point out that we could not have 
achieved the success we have had to date without our superb team. 
As such, I would like to thank our employees for their commitment 
and hard work, our Board of Directors for their thoughtful guidance, 
and you, our shareholders, for your ongoing support. We are excited 
about what fiscal 2013 will bring for Absolute, and look forward to 
reporting on our continued progress over the coming quarters. 

Sincerely,

John Livingston
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION (TSX: ABT) 
Fiscal 2012 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
Dated: August 13, 2012 
 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is prepared in accordance with National Instrument 
51-102F1, and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Fiscal 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements and 
accompanying notes. These documents, along with additional information about the Company, including the Annual 
Report and Annual Information Form, are available at www.absolute.com and www.sedar.com.   

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements, which relate to future events or the Company’s future 
performance, that include terms such as “will”, “intend”, “anticipate”, “could”, “should”, “may”, “might”, “expect”, 
“estimate”, “forecast”, “plan”, “potential”, “project”, “assume”, “contemplate”, “believe”, “shall”, “scheduled” and 
similar terms. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are beyond the 
Company’s control, which may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such 
forward-looking statements. The Company believes the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are 
reasonable but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking 
statements included in, or incorporated by reference into, this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon. These 
statements speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in the documents incorporated by 
reference into this MD&A. 

This MD&A, and the documents incorporated by reference, contain forward-looking statements pertaining to 
expectations which include, but are not limited to: (a) a continuing need for laptop and mobile device tracking, data 
protection, theft management services and lifecycle management solutions; (b) the successful integration of acquired 
products and technologies; (c) a continuation in computer refresh/replacement cycles; (d) the attainment of certain 
sales and cash flow targets and company performance; (e) the ability of the Company to successfully execute on its 
growth strategies, including attracting new distribution partners and successfully launching new products or features 
and adapting solutions to new platforms; (f) the ability of the Company to successfully compete in an increasingly 
competitive landscape; (g) continuation of embedded firmware support from its current and anticipated PC OEM 
partners; (h) the demand for its products continuing to increase; (i) the ability of the Company to access and gain sales 
traction in international markets and that such markets are growing as anticipated; (j) general market adoption of 
self-encrypting hard drives; and (k) other expectations, intentions and plans contained in this document that are not 
historical fact. 

The key assumptions underlying the aforementioned forward-looking statements are that: (a) the data security and 
endpoint lifecycle management markets are converging, and the Company will be able to capitalize on this 
convergence as a result of an expanded product and feature set; (b) worldwide computer and mobile device shipments 
will continue to grow, and the Company will benefit from this trend through increased sales as a result of its 
investments in global sales and marketing and PC OEM partnerships; (c) the Company’s investments in future growth 
of the business will generate returns as the worldwide computer and mobile device markets grow; (d) the Company 
will be able to continue to add new products and features on a global scale; (e) self-encrypting hard drives will become 
a popular form of encryption and the OPAL specifications will become a popular standard for self-encrypting drives; 
and (f) the Company will expand and be able to benefit from its portfolio of intellectual property, including patents. 
Certain or all of the forgoing assumptions may prove to be incorrect which could negatively impact the Company’s 
business and the anticipated results discussed herein. 

The Company’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties, certain of which are beyond the Company’s control. 
Such risks and uncertainties include, without limitation: risks associated with increased competition from other 
producers; the impact of general economic conditions in Canada, the United States and overseas; industry conditions, 
changes in technology, changes in laws and regulations (including the new intellectual property and privacy and data 
collection laws and regulations) and changes in how they are interpreted and enforced; changes in federal and 
provincial tax laws and legislation; the lack of availability of qualified personnel or management; fluctuations in 
foreign exchange or interest rates; stock market volatility and market valuations of companies with respect to 
announced transactions and the final valuations thereof; and obtaining required approvals of regulatory authorities. 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of risks to the Company’s performance is not exhaustive and reference is 
made to the items under “Risk Factors” in this MD&A and the Company’s Annual Information Form for the year ended 
June 30, 2012. All subsequent forward-looking statements, whether written or oral, attributable to the Company or 
persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Furthermore, the 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are made as at the date hereof and the Company does not 
undertake any obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable securities laws.
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Change in reporting currency 
Effective July 1, 2011, we changed our reporting currency from the Canadian dollar to 
the United States dollar. In conjunction with our transition to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), we have determined that the U.S. dollar is the functional 
currency of the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries.  We believe that changing 
our reporting currency to U.S. dollars will result in more relevant and reliable 
information for our financial statement users, and will more accurately reflect the 
results of our operations. For the year ended June 30, 2011 and for all prior periods, we 
presented our financial statements in Canadian dollars. The comparative figures 
disclosed in our financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2011, and in this 
MD&A, have been retrospectively recast to reflect the change in functional and 
reporting currencies to the U.S. dollar, as if the U.S. dollar had been used as the 
functional and reporting currency for all prior periods. All dollar figures are stated in U.S. 
dollars unless otherwise indicated.    

Selected Annual Information  
(in millions of USD, except percent and per share data) 

 
 Q4 Fiscal 

2012 
Q4 Fiscal 

2011 
YTD Fiscal 

2012 
YTD Fiscal 

2011 
Sales Contracts(1) 
    % increase 

$   23.8 
    5% 

$   22.8 
 

$   88.7 
    12% 

$   79.1 
 

Cash from Operating Activities(1) 
    Per Share (basic)(1)(2) 
    Per Share (diluted)(1)(2) 

$     4.7 
$   0.11 
$   0.10 

$    3.1              
$  0.07 
$  0.07 

$   18.9 
$   0.44 
$   0.43 

$    12.8 
$  0.29 
$  0.28 

Revenue 
    % increase 

$   19.5 
    9% 

$   18.0 
 

$   74.6 
    10% 

$   68.0 
 

Adjusted Operating Income(1) 
    % increase 

$   1.7 
    (44%) 

$   3.0 
 

$    10.4 
    89% 

$   5.5 
 

Net (loss) income 
    Per share (basic) 
    Per share (diluted)(2) 

$    (2.4)   
$  (0.05) 
$  (0.05) 

$   1.3 
$  0.03 
$  0.03 

$     (1.4)   
$  (0.03) 
$  (0.03) 

$    2.1 
$  0.05 
$  0.05 

Total assets $  129.7 $  118.5 $  129.7 $  118.5 
Cash, cash equivalents and                                                                             

investments 
 

$    69.9 
 

$     55.7 
 

$    69.9 
 

$     55.7 
Deferred Revenue $  125.2 $   111.2 $  125.2 $   111.2 

(1) Throughout this document, “Cash from Operating Activities” and “Basic or Diluted Cash from Operating 
Activities per Share” are used as profitability measures.  “Sales Contracts” (invoiced sales) is used as a measure 
of sales performance and as an indicator of future cash flows and revenue. Please refer to the “Non-IFRS 
Measures” and “Subscription Business Model” sections of this MD&A for further discussion on these measures.   

(2)  Per share figures for F2012 and F2011 reflect a reduced number of outstanding shares following the Company’s 
purchase and retirement of 1,003,500 common shares in fiscal 2012 and 3,797,020 common shares in fiscal 2011 
under annual Normal Course Issuer Bids that commenced in Q2-F2012, F2011, and F2010. 

The words “we”, “our”, “us”, “Company” and “Absolute” refer to Absolute Software 
Corporation and/or the management and employees of the Company. 



4  |  Absolute Software • 2012 Annual Report3 
 

BUSINESS OVERVIEW: 

Background   

Absolute Software Corporation (“Absolute”, the “Company”, or “we”), including its 
subsidiaries, is a provider of firmware-persistent endpoint security and management 
solutions for computers, mobile devices and the data they contain. The Company was 
founded in 1993 with the vision that businesses should be able to track, manage and 
secure their mobile computers regardless of their physical locations. Our solutions 
include computer tracking, lifecycle management, mobile device management, 
computer security incident response and data security. We manage or secure 
approximately five million computers and devices worldwide. Our customers include 
corporations, educational institutions, healthcare and government organizations and 
individual consumers.    

Our primary security product offering is Absolute Computrace®, a software as a service 
(“SAAS”) solution, which provides customers with the ability to track their computer and 
mobile device inventories on or off the corporate network, prove software license 
compliance and protect data through functions such as locating devices, remotely 
locking devices, deleting sensitive information, conducting remote forensics and 
recovering stolen devices.  Our consumer version of this product is called Computrace 
LoJack® for Laptops.  

We also offer Absolute Manage®, our lifecycle management and mobile device 
management solution.  Absolute Manage enables IT administrators to perform functions 
such as application and license management, software distribution, automated patch 
management, remote imaging, power management, encryption status reporting and 
other essential systems management functions for both their PC and Mac computers. 

Absolute Manage also includes mobile device management, mobile application 
management and secure document distribution for iOS (iPhone® and iPadTM), Android, 
and Windows Phone 7 devices.  This system can be configured to help customers 
manage both corporate and employee-owned devices that connect to the corporate 
network.  

The market opportunity for our products is driven largely by the increased adoption of 
portable computers and other mobile devices such as tablet computers, Ultrabooks and 
smart phones.  This opportunity arises in part because these devices are susceptible to 
loss or theft, and enterprises and consumers are concerned with the protection of 
sensitive or confidential data resident on those devices, as well as the recovery of the 
actual devices. Enterprises are also concerned about the identification of individuals 
responsible for a theft so that they can mitigate against the risks of future asset losses 
or data breaches.   

The market opportunity is also driven by the increasing diversity of computer and 
mobile device types and platforms entering the enterprise.  This proliferation is leading 
to increased management challenges and administrative costs for IT departments. This 
has led to an opportunity for endpoint lifecycle management and mobile device 
management solutions, such as Absolute Manage, that are designed to manage multiple 
mobile devices and platforms from a single console and to secure the corporate data 
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resident on those devices, regardless of whether they are corporate or employee 
owned.   

Our core Computrace technology is embedded at manufacture in the firmware of 
laptop, netbook, desktop, Ultrabook and tablet computers from most of the world’s 
leading PC manufacturers (“PC OEMs”, see Partner Ecosystem below).  As a result of this 
embedded position, Absolute’s Computrace and Absolute Manage products are highly 
tamper-resistant, or “persistent”.  This means that these solutions are able to self-heal 
in the event that the software agent is disrupted. This is a key competitive advantage for 
mobile computing, as devices without the ability to self-heal are virtually impossible to 
track or manage when the software agent is disrupted.  With sensitive or confidential 
data at risk on these devices and the stringent data privacy regulations and internal 
policies with which organizations must comply, we believe that our products have a 
distinct competitive advantage in the marketplace. 

Our Computrace products also provide data protection, investigation and recovery 
services that are unique in the market, enabling customers to take immediate action 
whenever they lose control of a device. These services, which are a significant part of 
our core value proposition and competitive advantage, include: data delete, device 
freeze, persistent device messaging, remote file retrieval, location identification, end of 
life data delete, remote forensics and  theft recovery services. Importantly, the forensics 
and recovery services are managed by our investigations and recovery services team, 
which includes former law enforcement professionals who work in concert with current 
law enforcement personnel. We believe our approach is the only viable way to provide 
such services while also ensuring that privacy rights are protected.  

We also offer Absolute Secure Drive, which enables customers to remotely manage self-
encrypting hard drives.  We believe that an emerging market opportunity exists for the 
management of self-encrypting drives.  Self-encrypting drives remain a relatively new 
technology, and therefore our success in this market will be dependent on the general 
market adoption of self-encrypting drives as a security solution, and our ability to 
become a preferred provider of self-encryption products, among other factors. 

Globalization 

In developing the market for our solutions, we have focused primarily on North America 
from where we have historically generated the majority of our sales. However, we 
believe that extending our market reach globally offers significant long-term growth 
opportunities, especially since international computer and mobile device shipments are 
expected to grow at much faster rates than those in North America.   As a result, we are 
continuing to invest in our overseas operations in Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and 
Latin America.   

We have offices in Vancouver, Canada; Austin, USA; Reading, UK; and Nuremburg, 
Germany, and expect to open an office in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia in F2013. We also 
service additional geographies through our remote sales force and through our partner 
network.  Our products and customer support services are available in over ten 
languages. We have sales distribution agreements with nine PC OEMs and a number of 
other in-country resellers in Europe (“EMEA”), Asia-Pacific and Latin America. 
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In fiscal 2012 (“F2012”), sales outside of North America grew 32% and represented 12% 
of our total Sales Contracts, compared to 10% in fiscal 2011 (“F2011”). While our 
investments in our overseas operations have started to drive growth, we believe that 
we are still in the formative stages of our international expansion, and therefore we 
expect that our international sales performance will be subject to variability.   

Partner Ecosystem  

Our partner ecosystem is an essential component of our business strategy. Our primary 
partners are PC OEMs who are both key collaborative technology partners and key 
distribution partners. We generate approximately 80% of our total sales through our PC 
OEM partners using various sales and marketing programs combined with co-
engagement from our direct sales force to help identify and close sales opportunities. 

From a technology perspective, our PC OEM partners have adopted our Computrace 
technology as a standard and have embedded it in the firmware of Windows-based 
laptop, netbook, desktop, Ultrabook and tablet computers. This is an important 
collaboration for us, as the embedded support enhances the persistence (ability to 
survive unauthorized or un-intentional removal attempts) of our software. This is a key 
value proposition and differentiator for Absolute.  The persistence position was limited 
to devices with Windows operating systems until August 2011 when we announced the 
first Android device (the Lenovo Thinkpad tablet) to ship with persistence enabled. The 
following table lists the PC OEMs who are currently providing embedded support for 
Computrace: 

Acer (since 2009) 
ASUS (since 2009) 
Dell (since 2005) 
Fujitsu (since 2006) 
GammaTech (since 2008)  
General Dynamics Itronix (since 2008) 
Getac (since 2008)  
HP (since 2005) 
IEI Technology (since 2009) 

Intel (Classmate Computer) (since 2009) 
Lenovo (since 2005) 
Motion Computing (since 2006) 
NEC Personal Products (since 2010) 
OQO, Inc. (since 2007) 
Panasonic (since 2006) 
Samsung (since 2011) 
Toshiba (since 2006) 
Xplore Technologies (since 2008) 

 

We also have relationships with leading technology companies, including Apple®, 
Microsoft®, Intel® and Qualcomm®, as well as various resellers.  Our consumer solutions 
are also distributed through various retail and online partners and via our website: 
www.lojackforlaptops.com. 
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Solutions and Technology 

Computrace 

Computrace is a SaaS-based security solution for endpoint data protection, tracking, 
investigative services and device recovery services, which enables customers to centrally 
secure and track their IT assets within a single web-based interface, the Absolute 
Customer Center.  A Computrace module is embedded into the firmware of many 
computers at the factory by our OEM partners or can be installed on the hard drive of 
the computer or device by the manufacturer or end customer.  Once the Computrace 
Agent is installed onto the hard drive, it activates the Computrace module embedded in 
the firmware and maintains daily contact with the Absolute Monitoring Center (hosted 
by Absolute).  If the hard drive Agent is tampered with, the module in the firmware 
rebuilds it, making it persistent and ensuring Computrace is highly tamper-resistant. By 
logging into the Absolute Customer Center, IT administrators receive detailed data from 
each device, enabling them to monitor their devices (on or off their internal networks), 
knowing where they are, who is using them and what types of software and other 
applications reside on them. They can also perform security and event management 
(“SIEM”) functions, such as managing device security settings, establishing alerts for 
events when a corporate security policy is compromised and securely deleting all hard 
drive contents prior to decommissioning a device. In the event of an emergency 
situation, customers can take protective measures, such as locating the device, remotely 
locking the device, deleting sensitive information, retrieving important files and 
engaging our investigations and recovery services team to conduct forensic 
investigations and to work with local law enforcement to support the recovery of stolen 
devices. Since inception, we have helped to recover more than 25,000 computers for 
our customers, many of which resulted in criminal convictions.  Computrace is offered in 
several variations (for example, with or without managed theft recovery) and is 
available for laptop, desktop and Ultrabook PCs and Macs.  Our consumer version of this 
product is branded as Computrace LoJack for Laptops. 

Absolute Manage 

Absolute Manage is our endpoint lifecycle management technology.  It allows IT 
administrators to remotely manage their PC and Mac computers from within a single 
console. Absolute Manage includes an administrator server and individual agents that 
are installed on each device. Agent calls occur throughout the day and provide data 
from each computer.  IT administrators use this data to monitor and manage their 
computer inventories.  They can implement actions directly from the administrator 
server interface to remotely perform actions such as automated patch management, 
computer imaging, asset inventory, power management and encryption status 
reporting. 

Mobile Device Management, Mobile Application Management and Mobile Document 
Distribution 

Our mobile device management, mobile application management and secure mobile 
document distribution offerings (collectively, “MDM”) extend our Absolute Manage 
solutions to alternative mobile devices such as tablets and smart phones. Our MDM 
solutions are available for devices with Apple iOS, Android, and Windows Phone 7 
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operating systems. This is a rapidly growing segment of the IT management and security 
market, which is being driven by the proliferation of mobile device types and platforms 
as well as the need to support employee-owned devices within the enterprise.  As one 
of the few vendors offering a single solution that supports Windows and Mac computers 
as well as these alternative devices, we believe our solutions have a distinct competitive 
advantage in the market.           

Absolute Secure Drive 

Absolute Secure Drive enables IT managers to manage self-encrypting hard drives that 
meet OPAL (an industry standard released in 2009 by the Trusted Computing Group) 
and Drive Trust (a standard released by Seagate) specifications.  With Absolute Secure 
Drive, IT administrators can easily set up and administer self-encrypting drives on each 
computer in their deployment from a single united console. 

Future Products 

In F2013, we expect to continue adding new product features, particularly in the areas 
of endpoint lifecycle management and mobile device support. We also intend to 
advance the integration of our Computrace and Absolute Manage products to create a 
single management console from which our customers can view data and initiate 
actions from either system.   

Deployment Models 

Our Computrace and LoJack for Laptops solutions are primarily delivered in a SaaS 
model. The customer activates Computrace in the firmware of the computer or as 
software, and can immediately begin realizing the benefits through our web-based 
console. Our Absolute Manage product is an on-premise client-server solution that is 
designed for minimal server infrastructure requirements. Additionally, a small number 
of Computrace customers, whose internal policies prohibit their computers from 
accessing third-party servers, have purchased our Computrace product using an on-
premise server model.   

Patent Portfolio 

We have a portfolio of 23 issued patents and currently have 113 new patent 
applications in process. Several potential competitors have taken licenses to our patent 
portfolio to enable them to participate in the computer theft recovery space. The 
royalty revenue from these licensees is currently not material.  

Due to the nature of our patent portfolio, from time to time the Company is involved in 
assertions and claims of patent infringement as both the initiating party and, from time 
to time, as a respondent to such claims.  The Company was party to the following 
material patent-related matter in F2012:   

Absolute Software Corporation and Absolute Software, Inc. v. Stealth Signal, Inc., and 
Computer Security Products, Inc. (“Stealth”) in the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of Texas, Case No. H-05-1416. In May 2012, the claim of patent 
infringement made against Stealth by the Company was settled in the Company’s favour 
by way of a settlement and stipulated judgment. Stealth Signal satisfied the judgment by 
granting Absolute an option to acquire all of the assets of Stealth at no additional cost.  



9
8 

 

Stealth also agreed to begin the steps to dissolve the company within 60 days. The 
monetary damages in the final judgment have not been recorded as an asset as the 
Company believes Stealth has no material assets. Accompanying the monetary damages 
was an injunction permanently restraining and enjoining Stealth from making, using, 
offering to sell, selling or importing into the United States products infringing the 
Company’s patents.  
 
In order to establish and defend its proprietary rights and patent portfolio, the Company 
is also the initiating party in two patent-related matters.  The Company’s management 
believes Absolute will prevail in these cases, however, the potential outcome, timing 
and impact on the Company’s business and patent portfolio is not determinable at this 
time. 

Competition 

We have historically had few direct competitors in our services for computer data 
protection and theft management services. Most competitors have been small 
operators with limited resources to widely commercialize their offerings. However, 
concurrent with the increased proliferation and adoption of mobile devices over recent 
years, we have recently seen increased competition, primarily in the consumer market 
for laptop computer tracking.  Based on our proprietary technology, patent protection, 
managed theft recovery approach and PC OEM relationships, we believe that our 
products maintain a competitive advantage in the marketplace.   

In the data and device security market, we also compete indirectly with data security 
companies that offer encryption solutions such as Safeboot (from McAfee), Utimaco 
(from Sophos), Checkpoint and Symantec, among others.  Our Computrace solutions are 
generally purchased as a complement to these solutions.  

Our endpoint lifecycle management solution, Absolute Manage, competes in a market 
where there is a greater level of established competition. In this market, we compete 
with products such as Altiris (from Symantec), LANDesk, Kace (from Dell) and BigFix 
(from IBM), among others. The primary advantages of our solution include our firmware 
persistent technology, cross-platform capability (PC, Mac, Apple iOS, Android, and 
Windows Phone 7 support) and lower deployment and ongoing administrative and 
infrastructure costs as compared to solutions offered by our primary competitors.  

In addition, there is another subset of competitors with MDM, our solution to allow 
organizations to manage their iOS, Android, and Windows Phone 7 devices. There are a 
number of competitors in this space, including Airwatch, Good Technology, Mobile Iron, 
and Boxtone. The primary advantages of our solutions are that we allow organizations 
to manage desktop, laptop, tablet, Ultrabook and smartphone devices from a single 
console, across multiple operating systems (Windows, Mac, iOS, Android, and Windows 
Phone 7) and with unparalleled reliability due to our persistence capability. 

With the February 2011 launch of Absolute Secure Drive, we have entered the market 
for the management of self-encrypting hard drives.  This is a relatively new and 
emerging market but there are few established competitors.  We currently view Wave 
and WinMagic as competitors in this market and expect other entrants to this market in 
the future. 
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Subscription Business Model 

We sell the majority of our solutions under a subscription model in which customers 
acquire subscriptions to software-based services for a limited license term. From a 
financial perspective, this subscription model improves the predictability and visibility of 
revenue streams, enables recurring cash flows and is expected to maximize profitability 
over time.  
The accounting treatment for the subscription model results in a significant deferral of 
revenue and profitability generated from pre-paid subscriptions, despite the cash flow it 
generates in the current reporting period. As a result, we believe that cash flow from 
operating activities is an important indicator of profitability and performance.  
Subscriptions to Absolute’s solutions are fully invoiced up-front for the purchased term 
(which varies from one to five years) on ordinary invoice and payment terms. Once 
received, payments are normally non-refundable. The amount invoiced is recorded at 
the foreign exchange rate in effect at the time of sale in deferred revenue on the 
statement of financial position and is recognized ratably as revenue over the contract 
term.  

We also sell a portion of our Absolute Manage licenses on a perpetual license basis.  In 
these scenarios, customers are invoiced up-front for the cost of the license as well as an 
annual maintenance and support services fee.  From an accounting perspective, 
perpetual licenses are generally recognized as revenue at the time of delivery (assuming 
other criteria are met), while annual maintenance and support fees are accounted for in 
the same manner as subscription license fees.  During F2012, the perpetual licenses 
were not a significant portion of our overall sales; however we expect that the 
proportion of perpetual licenses may increase over time as sales of the Absolute 
Manage product increase. 

We refer to our total invoiced sales (also known as bookings) in a period as our total 
“Sales Contracts”. As our term Sales Contracts average approximately 26 months in 
term, there is a significant lag between revenue recognition and the timing of the Sales 
Contract and our receipt of non-refundable cash flows. In general, only 15-25% of total 
Sales Contracts reported for any given fiscal year are also recognized as revenue in the 
same fiscal year. Conversely, a majority of our operating expenses in each fiscal period 
are incurred to generate Sales Contracts for that period. As a result, in times of rapid 
growth in the business, IFRS earnings will often decrease or losses increase, while 
operating cash flow accelerates. Accordingly, we focus on Cash from Operating Activities 
as the key profitability metric for the Company. We believe this metric provides a 
meaningful evaluation of the future of the business, while revenue and operating 
income (loss) provide a lagging indication of performance.  

Seasonality 

Absolute’s strongest quarters, as related to our Sales Contracts, tend to be the first and 
fourth quarter of each fiscal year. This is primarily due to strong activity in the education 
sector, one of our key markets, during those quarters. The first fiscal quarter also 
benefits from increased U.S. federal government activity as well as increased consumer 
market activity related to students returning to school.  
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Non-IFRS Measures 

Throughout this MD&A, we refer to a number of measures which we believe are 
meaningful in the assessment of the Company’s performance.  All these metrics are 
non-standard measures under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 
are unlikely to be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.  
Readers are cautioned that the disclosure of these items is meant to add to, and not 
replace, the discussion of financial results or cash flows from operations as determined 
in accordance with IFRS. 

The purpose of these non-IFRS measures is to provide supplemental information that 
may prove useful to investors who wish to consider the impact of certain non-cash or 
uncontrollable items on the Company’s operating performance. Non-cash share-based 
compensation and amortization of acquired intangible assets are being excluded from 
the Company’s operating expenses because the decisions which gave rise to these 
expenses were not made to increase Sales Contracts in a particular period, but were 
made for the Company’s long-term benefit over multiple periods. While strategic 
decisions, such as those to issue share-based awards or to acquire intangible assets, are 
made to further the Company’s long-term strategic objectives and do impact the 
Company’s earnings under IFRS, these items affect multiple periods and management is 
not able to change or affect these items within any particular period. As such, 
supplementing IFRS disclosure with non-IFRS disclosure using the non-IFRS measures 
outlined below provides management with an additional view of operational 
performance by excluding expenses that are not directly related to performance in any 
particular period. Management uses both IFRS and non-IFRS measures when planning, 
monitoring and evaluating the company’s performance. 

These measures, as well as their method of calculation or reconciliation to IFRS 
measures, are as follows: 

a) Basic and diluted Cash from Operating Activities per share 

As a result of the nature of our revenues (please refer to “Subscription Business 
Model” in this MD&A), we believe Cash from Operating Activities per share is a 
meaningful indicator of profitability per share. Cash from Operating Activities per 
share is calculated by dividing Cash from Operating Activities by the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding for the period (basic), or the fully diluted 
number of shares using the treasury stock method (diluted). 

b) Sales Contracts 

See the “Subscription Business Model” section of this MD&A for a detailed 
discussion of why we believe Sales Contracts (also known as “bookings”) provide a 
meaningful performance metric.  Sales Contracts are a component of deferred 
revenue (see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and 
result from invoiced sales of our products and services.  

c) Adjusted Operating Expenses 

A number of significant non-cash expenses are reported in our Cost of Revenue and 
Operating Expenses.  Management defines “Adjusted Operating Expenses” as IFRS 
Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses adjusted for these non-cash items, as we 
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believe that analyzing these expenses exclusive of these non-cash items provides a 
useful measure of the cash invested in operating the business.  Most significantly, 
these non-cash items include share-based compensation and amortization of 
acquired intangible assets. 

Specifically, management adjusts for the following items in computing its Adjusted 
Operating Expenses: 

1) Share-based compensation:  Our compensation strategy includes the use of 
share-based awards to attract and retain key employees and executives. It is 
principally aimed at aligning their interests with those of our shareholders and at 
long-term employee retention, rather than to motivate or reward operational 
performance for any particular period. Thus, share-based compensation expense 
varies for reasons that are generally unrelated to operational decisions and 
performance in any particular period. 

2) Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets:  We believe that amortization of 
acquired intangible assets, such as the amortization of acquired technology and 
customer relationships, relates to items arising from pre-acquisition activities. 
These are costs that are determined at the time of an acquisition or when other 
intangible assets are acquired. While it is continually reviewed for potential 
impairment, amortization of the cost is a static expense, one that is typically not 
affected by operations during any particular period. 

Please see the following for a reconciliation of our IFRS Cost of Revenue and 
Operating Expenses to the Adjusted Operating Expenses: 

 Three months ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 

(in millions) Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Cost of Revenue (“COR”) $       4.8 $   (1.3)(1) $     3.5 $       4.5 $   (1.4)(1) $     3.1 
Total Operating Expenses 15.0    (0.6)(2) 14.4 12.5  (0.6)(2) 11.9 
Adjusted Operating Expenses $    19.8                                                 $  (1.9)    $   17.9                                               $    17.0                                                 $   (2.0)    $   15.0                                               

 
 Year ended June 30, 

 2012 2011 
(in millions) Per 

consolidated 
financial 

statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Cost of Revenue (“COR”) $       19.7 $   (5.4)(1) $     14.3 $       19.3 $   (5.4)(1) $     13.9 
Total Operating Expenses 52.2    (2.4)(2) 49.8 52.1  (3.5)(2) 48.6 
Adjusted Operating Expenses $    71.9                                                 $  (7.8)    $   64.1                                               $    71.4                                                 $   (8.9)    $   62.5                                               

 

Notes: 

(1) Amortization of acquired intangible assets (excluding contract costs and brand) per note 6 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(2) Share-based compensation per the Statement of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.  
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d)  Adjusted Operating Income 

Management believes that analyzing operating results exclusive of the significant 
non-cash items noted above provides a useful measure of the Company’s 
performance.  The non-cash items excluded in the determination of Adjusted 
Operating Income include share-based compensation and amortization of acquired 
intangible assets.  See point (c) above for a discussion of these items. 

 
The following tables provide a reconciliation of our IFRS Operating Income (Loss) to 
the Adjusted Operating Income: 

 
 Three months ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 

(in millions) Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Operating Income (Loss) $   (0.2)                                                $   1.9(1)(2)   $   1.7                                               $    1.0                                                 $   2.0(1)(2)   $   3.0                                               
 

 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 

(in millions) Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Per 
consolidated 

financial 
statements Adjustments Adjusted 

Operating Income (Loss) $   2.6                                                $   7.8(1)(2)   $   10.4                                               $    (3.4)                                                 $   8.9(1)(2)   $   5.5                                               
 

Notes: 

(1) Amortization of acquired intangible assets (excluding contract costs and brand) per note 6 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(2) Share-based compensation per the Statement of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.  
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND ANALYSIS 

Performance Overview 

During F2012, we continued to focus on sales, marketing and enhancement of our 
Computrace, Absolute Manage and consumer products.   
 
Operational highlights for F2012 included:  

• Achieved 12% growth in Sales Contracts year-over-year, to $88.7 million 
compared to $79.1 million in F2011. 

• Commercial Sales Contracts increased by 19% to $81.5 million compared to 
$68.3M in F2011. 

• Sales of Device Management and Data Security products increased 67% to 
$24.1M compared to $14.5M in F2011 and accounted for 30% of commercial 
sales. 

• Generated $18.9 million in Cash from Operating Activities, an increase of 47% 
from $12.8M in F2011. 

• Adjusted Operating Income was $10.4 million, or 14% of revenue, representing 
an 89% improvement from $5.5 million, or 8% of revenue, in F2011.   

• Placed in the Visionaries Quadrant of Gartner Inc.’s Client Management Tools 
Magic Quadrant.  

• Expanded product platform to include innovative new features and functions 
including: 
o Absolute Manage: Windows imaging; support for Mac OS X Lion; and 

detailed encryption status reporting 
o Absolute Manage Mobile Device Management (MDM): Support for Android 

and Microsoft Windows Phone 7; AbsoluteSafe for secure document 
distribution to iOS devices; and automated enrolment and policy-based app 
installation for employee-owned devices 

o Computrace:  Integration of Computrace persistence technology into the 
firmware of the Lenovo Thinkpad tablet; theft recovery for Android devices; 
and ability to generate End-of-Life Data Delete Certificates. 

• Partnered with InComm to sell LoJack for Laptops gift cards through major U.S. 
retailers. 

• LoJack for Laptops named Editors’ Choice by PC Magazine.  
• Received the Diamond Supplier Award at Lenovo’s 2012 Global Supplier 

Conference 
• Repurchased 1,003,500 common shares under the Company’s Normal Course 

Issuer Bid for a total cost of $4,112,000. 
 
We believe that our improved financial performance in F2012 reflects a combination of 
successful execution of our sales and product strategy, improved general economic 
conditions and our continuing efforts to improve internal productivity and to optimize 
our corporate cost structure.  
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Sales Contracts 

Sales Contracts in F2012 were $88.7 million, up 12% from $79.1 million in F2011. In the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, Sales Contracts were $23.8 million, representing a 5% 
increase compared to $22.8 million in Q4-F2011. 

The growth rate in F2012 was positively impacted by international sales, which increased 
32% for the year and 37% year-over-year for the fourth quarter. We expect our 
international sales results to fluctuate quarterly due to the formative stage of our 
international expansion; however, over longer time horizons we expect international 
expansion to continue to drive overall growth.  In North America, Sales Contracts grew 
10% in F2012 as compared to F2011, and 2% in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.  The 
slower rate of North American growth in the fourth quarter was largely attributable to 
fewer large deals in the F2012 period as compared to the prior year. 

The following table shows Sales Contracts by commercial and consumer products:  

 

(in Millions) Q4 
F2012 

Q4 
F2011 

Change YTD 
F2012 

YTD 
F2011 

Change 

Commercial products 
    Theft management(1) $   15.6 $  15.6 0% $    57.4 $    53.8 7% 

 Device management 
and data security(2) 7.1 5.5 30% 24.1 14.5 67% 

Total Commercial Sales 22.7 21.1 8% 81.5 68.3 19% 
Consumer Sales 1.1 1.7 (34%)  7.2  10.8 (32%) 
Total Sales Contracts 23.8 22.8 5%  $    88.7    $   79.1   12% 

 

(1) “Theft management” products (formerly referred to as “theft recovery” products) are defined as 
Computrace products that include an investigations and recovery services component. 

(2) “Device management and data security” products (formerly referred to as “non-theft recovery” 
products) are defined as our Absolute Manage and Absolute Secure Drive products, as well as 
Computrace products that do not include an investigations and recovery services component (for 
example, Absolute Track and Computrace Data Delete). 

Commercial Customer Sales Performance: 

Our commercial product line consists of sales of our Computrace, Absolute Manage 
(including MDM) and Absolute Secure Drive product suites. We sell these products and 
related services into four primary market verticals: corporate, education, government 
and health care. Our primary sales channels for this business are our PC OEM partners, as 
well as a number of distributors and value-added resellers. 

Invoiced sales to commercial customers increased by 19% in F2012 over F2011, and 8% 
in Q4-F2012 compared to Q4-F2011.  This growth reflects year-over-year sales increases 
in all of our primary commercial market verticals.  We believe that the overall growth 
was influenced by a number of factors, including: we have experienced sales productivity 
gains as we begin to realize the benefits from the expansion of our sales and marketing 
teams over the past two years; our expansion into the lifecycle management market with 
Absolute Manage has added a second core product line; the growing market for mobile 
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teams over the past two years; our expansion into the lifecycle management market with 
Absolute Manage has added a second core product line; the growing market for mobile 
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device management solutions has provided a new source for lead generation that has 
created increased opportunities for our other product offerings; and our efforts to 
expand geographically outside North America have proven that a viable global 
opportunity exists for our products.  The growth rate in the fourth quarter of F2012 was 
lower than the year to date period primarily due to fewer large deals in the F2012 period 
as compared to the prior year. The rate of growth is expected to fluctuate between 
product lines depending on the natural timing of sales, and accordingly, it is not unusual 
for quarterly growth rates to be significantly different than those for the year to date 
periods. 

Theft Management Products and Services: Commercial Sales Contracts from our theft 
management products and services line improved 7% in F2012 compared to F2011, and 
were consistent in Q4-F2012 with Q4-F2011. The increase in F2012 reflects continued 
renewal and expansion activity within our existing customer base, particularly as 
computer refresh cycles remain strong.  It also reflects our success in new customer 
acquisition in domestic and global markets, particularly in corporate, government, and 
healthcare verticals. We believe that demand for these solutions is also benefitting from 
increased market awareness and demand for solutions that address corporate 
governance, risk mitigation and compliance (GRC) issues.   

Device Management and Data Security Products and Services: Commercial Sales 
Contracts for our device management and data security products and services grew 67% 
in F2012 from F2011, and grew 30% in the fourth quarter as compared to the prior year. 
We continue to increase sales of our Absolute Manage product to existing Computrace 
customers and to attract new customers due to our client management, mobile device 
management and data security offerings. In particular, our mobile device management 
solutions have generated a high level of incoming sales leads and we have experienced 
accelerating growth in this product line through F2012.  For the annual and Q4 periods 
of F2012, our device management and data security products and services represented 
30% and 31%, respectively, of commercial Sales Contracts, compared to 21% and 26% in 
the comparable prior year periods.  

Consumer Sales Performance: 

Our consumer business consists of sales of our consumer-branded product suite, 
Computrace LoJack for Laptops and Absolute Data Protect. Our primary sales channels 
for these products include our PC OEM partners, as well as other distribution channels 
such as online and traditional retailers.  Some of our PC OEM partners bundle our 
solutions with new PC purchases, which has formed the largest portion of our consumer 
product sales in prior years and which has become a less significant portion of our 
business as we continue to diversify into higher margin programs. Most renewal business 
is completed directly with our end customers. 

Consumer sales in the annual and Q4 periods of F2012 decreased 32% and 34%, 
respectively, from F2011, primarily due to a planned strategy to unwind a low margin 
high volume PC OEM bundle program, which ended in Q3-F2011.  Sales outside of bundle 
programs, which consist of OEM, retail and online subscription sales, were also lower in 
F2012, decreasing 7% from F2011 to 5.8 million in F2012, and decreasing 34% from Q4-
F2011 to $0.9 million in Q4-F2012. During Q4-F2012 our retail sales were impacted by a 
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number of our retail partners have begun to phase out boxed software products from 
their shelves.  As a counter to this trend, we recently announced an agreement with 
InComm, whereby Incomm will distribute prepaid Computrace LoJack for Laptops 
subscription gift cards through major US retailers commencing in Q1-F2013.   

Revenue 

In F2012, revenue increased 10% to $74.6 million from $68.0 million in F2011.  Revenue 
for Q4-F2012 increased 9% to $19.5 million, compared to $18.0 million in the 
comparative prior year quarter. A majority of our revenue is derived from the 
amortization of Sales Contracts through the prior year’s deferred revenue balance. As the 
average contract life of Sales Contracts averages approximately 26 months, typically only 
15-25% of new and renewal Sales Contracts reported for any given fiscal year are 
included in revenue for that particular year. The remainder is included in deferred 
revenue on the statement of financial position. As we increase the relative proportion of 
perpetual versus term license sales with our Absolute Manage product, we expect that a 
greater portion of Sales Contracts will be recognized as revenue in the same year as the 
year the Sales Contract is concluded.  See the “Subscription Business Model” section of 
this MD&A for further discussion, and the table below for a breakdown of revenue 
recognized from current fiscal year and prior period Sales Contracts: 

 

 (in millions) Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 
Revenue recognized from:   
    Prior year Deferred Revenue  $  57.9 $  53.2 
    Current year Sales Contracts 16.7 14.8 
Total $  74.6 $  68.0 
Percent of revenue from current year Sales Contracts 22% 22% 
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Adjusted Operating Expenses(1) 

 
(Millions of dollars) 

Q4 Fiscal 
2012 

Q4 Fiscal 
2011 

Percentage 
increase 

(decrease) 
YTD Fiscal 

2012 
YTD Fiscal 

2011 

Percentage 
increase 

(decrease) 

Cost of revenue (“COR”)(1) $   3.4 $    3.2 8% $    14.3 $    13.9 3% 
Sales and marketing (“S&M”) 9.4 7.2 29% 33.2 32.3 3% 
Research and development (“R&D”) 3.4 2.8 20% 11.8 11.6 1% 
General and administration (“G&A”) 1.9 2.2 (13%) 7.2 7.9 (8%) 
Investment tax credits (“ITC”) (0.2) (0.4) 46% (2.4) (3.2) 27% 
Adjusted Operating Expenses(1)       $ 17.9 $  15.0 19% $ 64.1 $  62.5 3% 
Number of employees at 

June 30 374 337 11% 374 337 11% 
ADJUSTMENTS: 

(1) Please refer to the Non-IFRS Measures section of this MD&A for a reconciliation of these adjusted expenses to those in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Adjusted Operating Expenses as a Percentage of Sales Contracts(1) 

As discussed in the “Subscription Business Model” section of this MD&A, a large 
percentage of total adjusted operating expenses relate to efforts to generate Sales 
Contracts in the same period. Therefore, management focuses on Adjusted Operating 
Expenses as a percentage of Sales Contracts to measure the Company’s operating 
efficiency and effectiveness.  

(percentage of Sales Contracts) Q4 Fiscal 
2012 

Q4 Fiscal 
2011 

Fiscal 
2012 

Fiscal 
2011 

Cost of revenue (“COR”)(1) 14% 14% 16% 18% 

Sales and marketing (“S&M”) 39% 32% 37% 41% 
Research and development (“R&D”) 14% 12% 13% 15% 
General and administration (“G&A”) 8% 10% 8% 10% 
Investment tax credits (“ITC”) (1%) (2%) (3%) (4%) 
Adjusted Operating Expenses(1)   75% 66% 72% 79% 
ADJUSTMENTS: 

(1) Please refer to the Non-IFRS Measures section of this MD&A for a reconciliation of these adjusted expenses 
to those in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Total Adjusted Operating Expenses increased 3% in F2012 as compared to F2011, while 
Sales Contracts grew 12%.  As a result, our Adjusted Operating Expenses as a percentage 
of Sales Contracts improved significantly at 72% of Sales Contracts compared to 79% of 
Sales Contracts in F2011.  

In Q4-F2012, Adjusted Operating Expenses were 75% of Sales Contracts, compared to 
66% in Q4-F2011.  This change reflected a 5% increase in Sales Contracts while Adjusted 
Operating Expenses increased 19%.  The increase in Adjusted Operating Expenses was 
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primarily attributable to additional headcount and marketing activities in the Q4-2012 
period in preparation for anticipated sales expansion in F2013  

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin 

Cost of revenue is comprised of customer support, training and theft recovery activities 
as well as product packaging, shipping and service guarantee costs.  These costs 
increased 2% from $19.3 million in F2011 to $19.7 million in F2012.  Our salary and 
employee-related expenses were slightly higher than the prior year on increased 
headcount and employee travel as well as a marginal increase in costs associated with 
our service infrastructure.  In Q4-F012, cost of revenue increased to $4.8 million, 
representing a 6% increase from $4.5 million in Q4-F2011.  The year over year increase in 
the fourth quarter was primarily related to higher employee costs.  We exited F2012 with 
a headcount of 88 in these areas, as compared to 82 at June 30, 2011.   

Gross margin in F2012 was 74%, compared to 72% in F2011.  In Q4-F2012, gross margin 
was 76% compared to 75% in the prior year. When considering Adjusted Cost of 
Revenue, gross margin was 81% in F2012, an improvement from 80% in F2011, and in 
Q4-F2012 gross margin was 82%, consistent with 82% in the prior year quarter.   

Sales and Marketing 

S&M expenses in F2012 were higher at $33.2 million, up from $32.3 million in F2011.  In 
Q4-F2012, S&M expenses were $9.4 million, up from $7.2 million in Q4-F2011. When 
measured as a percentage of Sales Contracts, S&M expenses decreased to 37% in F2012 
from 41% in F2011. In Q4-F2012 S&M expenses were 39% of Sales Contracts compared 
to 32% in the prior year period.   

The increases in S&M expense were primarily the result of increased employee-related 
expenses in our direct sales force resulting from higher headcount levels and increased 
amortization of deferred commission intangible assets and other variable compensation 
accruals. In addition, we increased marketing efforts in Q4-F2012 in order to accelerate 
new customer acquisition and cross-selling to existing customers due to the success we 
have seen in the mobile device management space.  These expenditures are aimed at 
increasing sales in F2013.  Amortization of the deferred commission portion of intangible 
assets increased over the prior year as a result of the strength of our sales performance 
and higher commissions paid in recent quarters, driven by our improved sales 
performance.  We exited F2012 with a headcount of 157 in sales and marketing, as 
compared to 140 at June 30, 2011.   

We undertake a number of general sales and marketing initiatives, including: 
participation in tradeshows and partner events; market development programs with 
partners; public and industry analyst relations; webinars; and advertising expenditures. 
These expenditures are incurred to increase awareness with both partners and 
customers, drive coverage with industry analysts and establish Absolute’s leadership 
position globally.   
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Research and Development  

Research and development expenditures increased 1% to $11.8 million in F2012 as 
compared to $11.6 million in F2011.  In addition, R&D expenses increased 20% in Q4-
F2012, from $2.8 million in Q4-F2011 to $3.4 million. When measured as a percentage of 
Sales Contracts, R&D expenses were lower in F2012 as compared to F2011, at 13% 
compared to 15%.  In Q4-F2012 R&D expenses were 14% of Sales Contracts compared to 
12% in the prior year period.   

Salaries and other employee-related expenses drove the increases in R&D expense 
compared to the prior year periods as we have recruited new employees, primarily in the 
second half of F2012. We exited F2012 with a headcount of 95 in research and 
development, as compared to 84 at June 30, 2011. 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses 
for our research and development staff, outsourcing costs and allocated overhead. We 
continue to focus our research and development efforts on adding new features and 
services, increasing product functionality and enhancing the ease of use of our products 
and services.  

General and Administration  

General and administration expenses in F2012 decreased 8% from the prior year, to $7.2 
million from $7.9 million. In Q4-F2012, G&A expenses decreased 13% from Q4-F2011, to 
$1.9 million as compared to $2.2 million.  When measured as a percentage of Sales 
Contracts, G&A expenses were lower in F2012 as compared to F2011, at 8% compared to 
10%.  In Q4-F2012 G&A expenses were 8% of Sales Contracts compared to 10% in the 
prior year period.   

The decreases in G&A expenses were primarily due to decreased legal fees associated 
with patent defense costs as compared to the prior year periods, partially offset by 
slightly higher employee-related expenses.  We exited F2012 with a headcount of 34 in 
general and administration, as compared to 31 at June 30, 2011.   

General and administration expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for finance 
and accounting, human resources personnel, bad debt expenses, legal costs, professional 
fees, other corporate expenses and allocated overhead.  

Investment Tax Credits 

ITCs consist of amounts credited to the Company in respect of eligible Canadian Scientific 
Research and Development expenditures.  ITC recovery amounted to $2.4 million in 
F2012, down from $3.2 million in F2011. The comparative F2011 recovery was positively 
affected by a claim of $1.6 million recorded upon the acceptance of certain of our 
historical claims which had remained outstanding in prior periods.  A similar recovery of 
$0.8 million was recorded in F2012.   

The ITC recovery in Q4-F2012 was $240,000, down from $440,000 in the prior year 
quarter.   
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Operating Income 

Absolute generated an Adjusted Operating Income of $10.4 million in F2012 compared to 
$5.5 million in F2011, increasing to 14% of revenue compared to 8% last year. For Q4-
F2012, Adjusted Operating Income was $1.7 million compared to $3.0 million in the prior 
year.  Absolute generated IFRS operating income of $2.6 million in F2012, compared to 
an operating loss of $3.4 million in F2011, and experienced an operating loss in Q4-F2012 
of $248,000 compared to operating income of $1.0 million in Q4-F2011. 

The improved adjusted and IFRS operating results in F2012 are the result of increased 
revenues of $6.6 million with relatively smaller increases in operating costs, while the 
decreased adjusted and IFRS operating results in Q4-F2012 was due to cost increases in 
excess of the rate of IFRS revenue increases.  

Other Income and Expenses 

Absolute earns interest income on its cash resources beyond immediate operating 
requirements. These cash balances are primarily invested in investment grade bonds.  In 
F2012, interest income was lower than F2011 at $591,000 as compared to $743,000.  In 
Q4-F2012, interest income was $178,000 as compared to $250,000 in Q4-F2011.  These 
decreases are primarily a result of lower interest rates available on investment and cash 
balances. 

Other income and expenses also include foreign exchange gains and losses incurred 
primarily on the translation of Canadian dollar cash, investment and liability balances. 
Canadian dollar denominated assets currently exceed Canadian dollar liabilities, as we 
maintain significant balances in Canadian dollar denominated cash and investments.  This 
results in foreign exchange gains (losses) in periods where the Canadian dollar 
appreciates (declines) relative to the U.S. dollar.  In F2012, we experienced a foreign 
exchange loss of $1.3 million, as compared to a gain of $3.5 million in F2011. In Q4-
F2012, we experienced a foreign exchange loss of $622,000 compared to a loss of 
$129,000 in Q4-F2011.  The losses in F2012 are the result of the depreciation of the 
Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar. 

In F2012, we experienced a gain of $30,000 related to mark to market adjustments on 
our investment bond portfolio.  In F2011, we recorded a gain of $283,000 on disposal of 
marketable securities.   

Income Taxes 

Our overall effective tax rate is significantly impacted by the effect of share-based 
compensation and foreign exchange gains or losses, which are generally not deductible 
for income tax purposes.  In addition, the allocation of income or losses amongst our 
subsidiaries can have a significant impact on our effective tax rate as a result of varying 
tax rates in different jurisdictions, the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on 
deferred tax balances originating in foreign jurisdictions, and the non-recognition of 
deferred tax assets in some jurisdictions. 
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In F2012, we recorded current income tax expense of $2,372,000 and a deferred income 
tax expense of $997,000.  In F2011, we recorded a current tax expense of $1,636,000 and 
a deferred income tax recovery of $2,606,000. The difference between our effective tax 
rate in each year and our expected tax rate of 25.75% (2011 – 27.50%) is primarily due to 
the interplay of the above-mentioned factors. 

In F2012 and F2011, our current tax expense was offset by Scientific Research and 
Experimental Development Investment Tax Credits to be claimed, which are presented as 
a reduction of operating expenses. As a result, the Company has not incurred cash 
outlays for income taxes in these years.   

Net (Loss) Income 

The Company recorded a net loss in F2012 of $1.4 million, as compared to net income of 
$2.1 million in F2011. In Q4-F2012, we experienced a net loss of $2.4 million, as 
compared to net income in Q4-F2011 of $1.3 million. The current year net losses reflect 
our positive operating income and interest income, less the impact of foreign exchange 
losses and income taxes. 

In F2012, we earned net income adjusted for Adjusted Operating Expenses of $6.4 
million in F2012, compared to $11.0 million in F2011. In addition, we experienced an 
adjusted net loss in Q4-F2012 of $477,000, as compared to adjusted net income of $3.2 
million in Q4-F2011. The primary reason for the reduction in F2012 is the $4.9 million 
improvement in the adjusted operating loss as noted above, offset by the $4.8 million 
negative variance in foreign exchange losses and the $4.3 million change in our net 
income tax expense and recovery.  

Cash from Operating Activities 

In F2012, we recorded Cash from Operating Activities of $18.9 million, an increase of 47% 
from $12.8 million in F2011 and increasing to 21% of Sales Contracts from 16% in the 
prior year. In Q4-F2012, Cash from Operating Activities was $4.7 million, an increase of 
52% from $3.1 million in Q4-F2011.  The improved performance in the current year is the 
result of increases in Sales Contracts recorded in the current period, while Adjusted 
Operating Expenses have not increased at the same rate as compared to the comparative 
period. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Absolute is in a strong financial position, with no debt and the financial resources 
necessary to fund its operating and capital requirements and to execute on its growth 
strategies. At June 30, 2012, Absolute’s cash, cash equivalents and investments were 
$69.9 million, compared to $55.7 million at June 30, 2011.  The Company’s cash and 
investment position has improved on operating cash flows and proceeds from employee 
option exercises, less our cash outlay of $4.0 million related to our share buyback 
program.  Based on current sales and investment plans, management believes that the 
Company has sufficient capital resources to meet its growth and operating requirements. 

The Company has no material individual capital expenditure commitments for fiscal 
2013.  Given our strong cash and investment balances and operating cash flow, at this 
time management does not believe we require any additional capital resources. 
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Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable balances increased to $18.1 million at June 30, 2012 (75% of Q4-
F2012 Sales Contracts) from $16.2 million at June 30, 2011 (71% of Q4-F2011 Sales 
Contracts). This increase is primarily due to increased Sales Contracts recorded in Q4-
F2012 as compared to Q4-F2011.  

At June 30, 2012, 23% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance was over 90 days 
past due as compared to 20% at June 30, 2011. At June 30, 2012, accounts receivable 
included four PC OEM and reseller partners that represented more than 10% of 
receivables, at 34%, 16%, 11%, and 10% respectively. At June 30, 2011, the same 
partners comprised 27%, 16%, 4%, and 10% respectively, of our total accounts 
receivable.  

Accrued warranty 
Accrued warranty is related to a service guarantee with certain of our products.  The 
accrued warranty decreased in the current year to $0.6 million at June 30, 2012, 
compared to $0.9 million at June 30, 2011.  Each period, management evaluates our 
guarantee payment experience and considers whether changes are required to the 
estimated warranty provision.   

Deferred revenue 
Deferred revenue was $125.2 million at June 30, 2012, compared to $111.2 million at 
June 30, 2011, an increase of 13%.  Deferred revenue is comprised of the unamortized 
portion of deferred revenue from Sales Contracts, which is amortized to revenue over 
time. 

The scheduled recognition of deferred revenue is as follows:   

(in millions) F2013 F2014 F2015 F2016 F2017 Total 

Revenue to be recognized $63.2 $38.5 $18.0 $4.5 $1.0 $125.2 

Deferred income tax assets and current taxes payable  

At June 30, 2012 and 2011, we had no current taxes payable as our current tax expense is 
offset by our expected claims for Scientific Research and Expenditure Investment Tax 
Credits (“ITC”s).  

At June 30, 2012, we had total deferred income tax assets of $19.8 million, which are 
primarily attributable to the future benefit of deferred revenue balances and operating 
loss carryforwards in our U.S. operations.  Management believes these deferred income 
tax assets are more likely than not to be realized.   

The Company operates in various tax jurisdictions and, accordingly, the Company’s 
income is subject to varying rates of tax. Losses incurred in one jurisdiction cannot be 
used to offset income taxes payable in another. The Company’s ability to use income 
tax losses and future income tax deductions is dependent upon the profitable 
operations of the Company in the tax jurisdictions in which such losses or deductions 
arise.   
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In assessing the recognition of deferred income tax assets, management considers 
whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax 
assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is 
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the years in which the 
temporary differences are deductible. To the extent that management believes that the 
realization of the deferred income tax assets does not meet the more likely than not 
realization criteria, deferred tax assets are not recognized. 

Shareholders’ Deficiency and Outstanding Share Data  

At June 30, 2012, Absolute had a shareholders’ deficiency of $4.8 million. In evaluating 
shareholders’ deficiency, management believes it is important to consider the $125.2 
million of deferred revenue carried on the statement of financial position. This amount 
represents prepaid (or due to be paid in full on payment terms) and non-refundable 
revenue, on which management expects to generate high margins when recognized in 
income, as much of the associated contract costs are already included in the operating 
deficit.  In addition, any common shares repurchased as part of our Normal Course Issuer 
Bids are recorded at an historical per share average value, and the difference between 
these amounts and the amount paid is recorded as part of deficit.  

The Company’s common shares trade on the TSX (TSX: ABT) and at June 30, 2012 the 
Company had 43,757,803 (August 13, 2012 – 43,835,413) fully issued and outstanding 
common shares. The following rights to receive common shares are issued and 
outstanding at June 30, 2012:  

• Stock Option Plan: 4,399,389 (August 13, 2012 – 4,377,639) common stock options 
granted and outstanding. The options have a weighted average exercise price of 
$4.70 per share and a weighted average term to expiry of 2.7 years. We granted 
952,000 options in F2012. 

• Employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the Plan, employees may purchase treasury 
shares at a 15% discount from market during two discrete six month offering periods 
each year. A total of two million shares have been reserved for grant under the Plan, 
of which 1,075,268 have been issued as at June 30, 2012 (August 13, 2012 – 
1,152,878). 

• Acquisition of LANrev: Pursuant to the terms of the LANrev purchase agreement, 
166,668 common shares are to be issued to the selling shareholders prior to June 30, 
2013.  
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Contractual Commitments 

The Company maintains operating leases for premises, and also has commitments 
under equipment and business service agreements, and a branding agreement.  At June 
30, 2012, the minimum payments under these commitments are as follows: 

 
2013   $   1,985,836 
2014 1,786,585 
2015 1,631,054 
2016 1,363,533 
2017 and thereafter 3,300,927 
 $   10,067,935 

 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We have not entered into any off balance sheet arrangements other than standard office 
lease agreements. 

Related Party Transactions 

Key management personnel compensation 

 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 

Salaries, bonus, and short-term employment 
benefits 

$  1,663,855 $  1,248,229 

Share-based compensation 301,545 377,100 
 $  1,965,400 $  1,625,329 

Subsequent Event 

On July 27, 2012, 77,610 common shares were issued pursuant to the Employee Share 
Purchase Plan. 

Corporate Developments 

None. 

Financial Instruments 

Overview 

The Company is exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its 
ability to achieve its strategic objectives for growth.  The main objectives of our risk 
management process are to ensure that risks are properly identified and that the capital 
base is adequate in relation to those risks.  The principal financial risks to which we are 
exposed have not changed from the year ended June 30, 2011, with the exception of 
foreign currency risk as outlined below. 
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as fluctuations in the market 
prices of Absolute’s publicly traded investments, foreign exchange rates, and interest 
rates, will affect the Company’s income or the value of its financial instruments.  We do 
not engage in risk management practices such as hedging, derivatives or short selling 
with respect to its investments. 

We operate internationally, primarily in the United States, giving rise to exposure to 
market risks from foreign exchange rates.  Absolute’s functional currency is the U.S. 
dollar. However, we maintain net Canadian dollar asset positions, and therefore record 
gains in periods of rising Canadian dollar exchange rates and losses in periods of 
declining rates. Canadian dollar operating costs are converted at current exchange rates, 
while revenue is recorded at historic rates from when the sales contracts were recorded 
into deferred revenue, and therefore Absolute’s operating loss increases in periods 
when the Canadian dollar appreciates. 

Foreign Currency Sensitivity Analysis 

Absolute typically does not enter foreign currency hedges.  Further appreciation in the 
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could impact our ability to continue at current 
operating margins as a significant amount of operating costs are denominated in 
Canadian dollars.  

Absolute is exposed to fluctuations in the Canadian dollar, through Canadian dollar 
working capital balances and operating expenses.  Absolute’s sensitivity to a 1% 
strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar is an approximate decrease 
of $350,000 in annual operating income and a $215,000 increase in net loss. For a 1% 
weakening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar, there would be an equal and 
opposite impact on operating income and net loss.   

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that we are not able to meet our financial obligations as they fall 
due or can do so only at excessive cost.  Absolute mitigates liquidity risk by holding 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its financial obligations.  Absolute’s growth 
is financed through cash on hand and cash flows from operations.  The majority of our 
financial liabilities recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due within 60 
days.  

Given Absolute’s available liquid resources as compared to the timing of the payments 
of liabilities, management assesses the Company’s liquidity risk to be low. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk represents the financial loss that Absolute would experience if a counterparty 
to a financial instrument, in which we have an amount owing from the counterparty, 
failed to meet its obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of its 
contracts with the Company.  The carrying amount of our financial assets represents the 
maximum credit exposure. 

 



27
26 

 

We manage credit risk related to accounts receivable by carrying out credit 
investigations for new customers and partners, and by maintaining reserves for 
potential credit losses.  The majority of the accounts receivable balance is due from 
well-capitalized computer manufacturers who have a history of paying on a timely basis.  
Accounts receivable are net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $915,000 (June 30, 
2011 - $1.5 million). 

At June 30, 2012, 23% of our accounts receivable balance is over 90 days past due (June 
30, 2011 – 20%).  As at June 30, 2012, 34%, 16%, 11%, and 10% (June 30, 2011 - 27%, 
16%, 4%, and 10%) of the receivable balances are owing from four OEM and reseller 
partners. 

We manage credit risk related to cash, cash equivalents, and investments by 
maintaining bank and investment accounts with high credit quality financial institutions, 
including Schedule 1 banks. 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, short term investments, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and accrued warranty approximate 
their fair values due to the immediate or short-term nature of these instruments. The 
carrying value of investments carried at amortized cost approximates their fair value as 
the interest rate environment has not changed significantly from the date of purchase.  
The carrying value of acquisition payable approximates its fair value as the cash portion 
of the liability is discounted to present value at an interest rate that approximates 
market.   
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Quarterly Operating Data 

 

(in millions except per share data) Q4-12 Q3-12 Q2-12 Q1-12 Q4-11 Q3-11 

 

Q2-11 Q1-11 

Sales Contracts (in USD)(1) $23.8 $18.9 $20.7 $25.3 $22.8 $17.5 $17.7 $21.1 

Revenue 19.5 18.4 18.4 18.2 18.0 16.9 16.8 16.3 

Adjusted Operating Income 
(Loss)(2) 1.7 3.2 2.9 2.7 3.0 2.1(5) 0.8 (0.3) 

Net (Loss) Income (2.4)(3) 1.4 1.5 (1.9)(4) 1.3 1.6(5) (0.8) 0.1 

Basic and diluted (loss) income 
per share (0.05) 0.03 0.03 (0.04) 0.03 0.04 (0.02) 0.00 

Cash from Operating Activities 4.7 2.6 6.0 5.5 3.1 3.0 3.2 3.4 

Operating cash per share (basic) 0.11 0.06 0.14 0.13 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 

 

(1) Please refer to “Seasonality” section of this MD&A. 

(2) Please refer to the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A.   

(3) Q4-12 results included the impact of a $1.6 million income tax expense. 

(4) Q1-12 results included the impact of a $1.9 million foreign exchange loss. 

(5) Q3-11 results included the impact of a $2.0 million ITC recovery. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

Management considers the Company’s accounting for Sales Contracts, intangible assets 
(relating to deferred contract costs), warranty accruals and deferred taxes to be critical 
accounting policies. An understanding of the accounting policies for these items is 
important for meaningful analysis of Absolute’s business.  

Sales Contracts represent invoiced sales for subscriptions to Absolute’s services and 
software that are included in deferred revenue and amortized to revenue ratably over 
the contract term, commencing in the month after sale. A majority of Absolute’s Sales 
Contracts are transacted via channel partners who purchase from Absolute in order to 
resell to their customers. While Absolute’s services are provided directly to the end user 
customer, the orders come in various forms from reseller partners. Absolute ships the 
software if applicable, commences the subscription term and invoices the reseller and 
reports this as a Sales Contract for the applicable period. Accordingly, Absolute relies 
upon the reseller partner to have sufficiently concluded the sales process with the end 
user customer to ensure that the order is valid and the risk of returns and/or reversals is 
kept to a minimum. These Sales Contracts are recorded as a receivable and deferred 
revenue item at period end (and not included in revenue at the time) and no estimates 
for returns, bad debts and reversals are made until such time as subsequent evidence 
suggests such an estimate is required.    

Deferred contract costs represent expenses that are generated or incurred at the start of 
each service subscription (or Sales Contract) and are primarily comprised of prepaid 
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employee sales commissions. These items are capitalized on the statement of financial 
position as a portion of intangible assets, amortized into sales and marketing expense 
ratably over the contract term. Management estimates the benefit period of deferred 
costs to be equivalent to the contract term of the Sales Contract to which the expense 
relates. If management’s estimate of the future value of such costs should change it 
could result in a significant write-down in the value of this deferred asset.   

Warranty accruals require management estimates of the amount of warranty claims that 
will be paid related to the number of thefts, both reported and unreported to the 
Company, at each period end.  Accrual estimates are established based on Absolute’s 
experience with recovery rates and timeframes associated with theft reporting and are 
reviewed for reasonableness based on actual experience on a regular basis. However, 
actual experience will likely vary and may require a change in the estimated liability. 
Should these estimates change, they may require changes to the amount of warranty 
expense in future periods, in addition to a change in the warranty accrual.  Costs of 
servicing the warranty liability are expensed as period costs in the statement of 
operations. 

The Company has recognized deferred tax assets on its statement of financial position. 
Each reporting period, management assesses the likelihood of realizing deferred tax 
assets.  Where management considers that it is more likely than not that some portion or 
all of the future tax assets will be realized, the estimated realizable value of the future 
tax asset is recognized on the statement of financial position.  The net income or loss 
after income taxes can vary widely in periods where tax assets are recognized and such 
variances could result from a material write-down or increase in the estimated value of 
the Company’s deferred tax assets.      

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following amendments 
and new standards, which have not yet been adopted by the Company. Each of the 
amendments and new standards is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013, unless otherwise indicated, with early adoption permitted. The 
Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the amended and 
new standards will have on its consolidated financial statements or whether to early 
adopt any of the new requirements.  

The following is a description of the new or amended standards:  

IAS 1 – “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) 

Amendments to IAS 1 require that elements of other comprehensive income that may 
subsequently be reclassified through profit and loss be differentiated from those items 
that will not be reclassified.  These amendments are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Company’s disclosures in its consolidated financial statements.  

IAS 12 – “Income Taxes” (“IAS 12”) 

Amendments to IAS 12 clarify how an entity should measure the deferred tax 
consequences related to accounting recoveries of previously-impaired assets and 
liabilities underlying deferred tax assets and liabilities.  These amendments are effective 
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for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2012.  The Company does not believe 
these amendments will materially affect its financial performance or its financial 
position. 

IAS 19 – “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”) 

Amendments to IAS 19 provide new requirements for the accounting for defined benefit 
pension plans. Most notably, the amendments mandate the immediate recognition of 
actuarial gains and losses, and require companies to use the same discount rate for both 
the defined benefit obligation and the expected asset return when calculating the 
interest component of pension expense. The Company does not believe the adoption of 
IAS 19 will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 27 – “Separate Financial Statements” (“IAS 27”) 

IAS 27 prescribes the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associations when an entity prepares separate financial 
statements.  The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of IAS 27 on 
its financial performance or its financial position were it to prepare separate financial 
statements. 

IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (“IAS 28”) 

IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the 
requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments 
in associates and joint ventures.  The Company does not believe the adoption of IAS 28 
will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 32 – “Financial Instruments:  Presentation” (“IAS 32”) 

Amendments to IAS 32 provide specific guidance for when an entity can offset financial 
assets and liabilities by clarifying when a legally enforceable right to do so exists, and 
when an entity meets the criterion for the intent to settle on a net basis. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2014.  The 
Company does not believe the amendments to IAS 32 will materially affect its financial 
performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 7 – “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”) 

Amendments to IFRS 7 introduce enhanced disclosure around any financial instruments 
which are offset in accordance with IAS 32. These amendments are not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Company’s disclosures in its consolidated financial 
statements. 

IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and contained requirements for financial assets. 
This standard addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces 
the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and measurement for debt instruments, with a new mixed measurement 
model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. 
IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments and such instruments 
are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (loss). Where such equity instruments are measured at fair value 
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for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2012.  The Company does not believe 
these amendments will materially affect its financial performance or its financial 
position. 

IAS 19 – “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”) 

Amendments to IAS 19 provide new requirements for the accounting for defined benefit 
pension plans. Most notably, the amendments mandate the immediate recognition of 
actuarial gains and losses, and require companies to use the same discount rate for both 
the defined benefit obligation and the expected asset return when calculating the 
interest component of pension expense. The Company does not believe the adoption of 
IAS 19 will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 27 – “Separate Financial Statements” (“IAS 27”) 

IAS 27 prescribes the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associations when an entity prepares separate financial 
statements.  The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of IAS 27 on 
its financial performance or its financial position were it to prepare separate financial 
statements. 

IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (“IAS 28”) 

IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the 
requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments 
in associates and joint ventures.  The Company does not believe the adoption of IAS 28 
will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 32 – “Financial Instruments:  Presentation” (“IAS 32”) 

Amendments to IAS 32 provide specific guidance for when an entity can offset financial 
assets and liabilities by clarifying when a legally enforceable right to do so exists, and 
when an entity meets the criterion for the intent to settle on a net basis. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2014.  The 
Company does not believe the amendments to IAS 32 will materially affect its financial 
performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 7 – “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”) 

Amendments to IFRS 7 introduce enhanced disclosure around any financial instruments 
which are offset in accordance with IAS 32. These amendments are not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Company’s disclosures in its consolidated financial 
statements. 

IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and contained requirements for financial assets. 
This standard addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces 
the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and measurement for debt instruments, with a new mixed measurement 
model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. 
IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments and such instruments 
are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (loss). Where such equity instruments are measured at fair value 
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through other comprehensive income (loss), dividends are recognized in profit or loss to 
the extent not clearly representing a return of investment; however, other gains and 
losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated 
comprehensive income (loss) indefinitely.  

Requirements for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely 
carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to 
credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would generally 
be recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).  These amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning after January 1, 2015.  The Company has not yet assessed the 
impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on its financial performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 10 – “Consolidation” (“IFRS 10”)  

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is 
required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 
“Consolidation—Special Purpose Entities” and parts of IAS 27, “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements”.   The Company does not believe the adoption of IFRS 10 
will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 11 – “Joint Arrangements” (“IFRS 11”)  

IFRS 11 requires a venture to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint 
venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting, whereas for a joint operation, the venture will recognize its share of the 
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, 
entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in 
joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures”, and SIC-13, 
“Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures”.   The Company 
does not believe the adoption of IFRS 10 will materially affect its financial performance 
or its financial position. 

IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (“IFRS 12”)  

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint 
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off-balance sheet vehicles. The 
standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional 
disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an 
entity’s interests in other entities. The Company does not believe the adoption of IFRS 
10 will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 13 – “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”)  

IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across all IFRS. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes 
disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring 
and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value 
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measurements and, in many cases, does not reflect a clear measurement basis or 
consistent disclosures. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of 
IFRS 13 on its financial performance or its financial position. 
 

Accounting Changes Adopted in F2012 

Basis of preparation and adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards  

We previously prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) as set out in 
Part V of the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA 
Handbook”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and required publicly accountable enterprises 
to apply such standards effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with 
early adoption permitted. Accordingly, we commenced reporting on this basis in our 
Q1-F2012 interim condensed consolidated financial statements, and our F2012 annual 
consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS. Our basis of presentation and 
accounting policies are described in detail in notes 1, 2 and 20 of our consolidated 
financial statements.   
 
Overview  
 
The effect of the Company’s transition to IFRS is summarized as follows: transition 
elections; and explanatory notes on Canadian GAAP/IFRS differences. 
 
Refer to note 20 of the consolidated financial statements for a detailed reconciliation of 
the impact of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS on our financial 
position, results from operations and cash flows as related to fiscal 2011. 
 
Transition elections  
 
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”), which provides guidance for an 
entity’s initial adoption of IFRS. IFRS 1 generally requires retrospective application of 
IFRS effective at the end of the Company’s first annual IFRS reporting period. However, 
IFRS 1 also provides certain optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this 
retrospective treatment.  
 
Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates previously made under Canadian 
GAAP, except where necessary to reflect any difference in accounting policies. 
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The Company has applied the mandatory exception and the following transitional 
exemptions to full retrospective application of IFRS in its preparation of an opening IFRS 
consolidated statement of financial position at July 1, 2010 (the Company’s “Transition 
Date”): 
 

i) To apply IFRS 2, “Share-based Payments”, retrospectively only to awards that 
were issued after November 7, 2002 and where any portion of said awards had 
not vested by the Transition Date; 

ii) To reclassify certain of the Company’s financial instruments (investments in 
interest-bearing securities) as fair value through profit or loss financial assets 
as opposed to held-to-maturity financial assets on the Transition Date; and 

iii) To apply IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”, prospectively from the Transition 
Date and, therefore, not restate business combinations that took place prior to 
the Transition Date. As such, Canadian GAAP balances relating to business 
combinations entered into before the Transition Date, including acquired 
intangible assets, have been carried forward without adjustment. 

The Company’s Transition Date IFRS consolidated statement of financial position is 
included as comparative information in the consolidated statements of financial position 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

Explanatory notes on differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS 
 
Warranty liability – Under Canadian GAAP, the Company estimated its warranty liability 
at the time services were sold, based on computer theft and recovery rates and 
historical payout ratios, in advance of delivery of the Company’s services.  As the 
warranty liabilities estimated using this method related to periods greater than one 
fiscal year, the liabilities were split between current and long-term.  In addition, costs 
associated with the warranty estimates were deferred and amortized over the same 
period as the associated Sales Contracts.  Unamortized warranty costs were included as 
a reduction of deferred revenue on the statement of financial position. 

Under IFRS, the Company estimates its warranty liability based on computer thefts: a) 
reported to the Company at each reporting date; and b) which are unreported to the 
Company, but are estimated based on the number of thefts which have occurred but 
have not yet been reported, based on historical theft reporting timeframes.  The 
Company then uses historical recovery rates and payout ratios to estimate the warranty 
liability.  As the warranty liability relates only to computer thefts occurring in the past 
which are typically paid out in less than 180 days, the liability is carried as a current 
liability.  Costs associated with the warranty are recognized in the current period 
statement of operations.  On the Transition Date, the Company recognized the effect of 
these changes, which decreased total liabilities by $3,977,095 (comprised of a 
$7,641,798 decrease in accrued warranty and a $3,664,703 increase in deferred 
revenue), with a corresponding offset to deficit, which decreased total shareholders’ 
deficiency by that amount. Under IFRS, as compared to Canadian GAAP, cost of goods 
sold for the year ended June 30, 2011 increased by $414,162. 



34  |  Absolute Software • 2012 Annual Report33 
 

Intangible assets – Under Canadian GAAP, the Company deferred and amortized 
deferred contract costs, consisting of deferred sales commissions and brand royalties.  
These costs were split into their current and long-term portions on the statement of 
financial position as deferred contract costs.  Under IFRS, these costs continue to be 
deferred, however, they are now presented as a portion of intangible assets.  On the 
Transition Date, $3,793,123 was reclassified from current deferred contract costs and 
$3,516,862 was reclassified from long-term deferred contract costs to intangible assets.  
Also on the Transition Date, an amount of $205,359 was adjusted as a result of the 
change in the Company’s functional currency to the U.S. dollar.  Amortization of those 
assets remained the same under IFRS as it was under Canadian GAAP. 

Share-based compensation – Under Canadian GAAP, each stock option grant was 
treated as a single arrangement and compensation expense was determined at the time 
of grant and amortized over the vesting period, generally 48 months, on a straight-line 
basis. IFRS requires a separate calculation of compensation expense for awards that vest 
in installments. Under Canadian GAAP, forfeitures of the share-based compensation 
awards could be accounted for in the period in which the forfeitures occurred. Under 
IFRS, compensation expense differs from Canadian GAAP based on the changing fair 
values used for each installment, the application of the forfeiture rate and the timing of 
recognizing compensation expense. Generally, this results in accelerated expense 
recognition under IFRS. On the Transition Date, the Company recognized additional 
compensation expense of $4,993,006, which increased the Company’s deficit, with a 
corresponding offset to equity reserve. Total shareholders’ deficiency was not affected. 
Under IFRS, as compared to Canadian GAAP, share-based compensation expense for the 
year ended June 30, 2011 increased by $763,993. 

Functional currency – Under Canadian GAAP, the functional currency of the parent 
company and its subsidiaries was Canadian dollars. Under IFRS, the Company assessed 
that the parent company and the majority of its subsidiaries’ functional currencies is 
United States dollars. The company determined that, under IFRS, its functional currency 
would always have been United States dollars. This change was applied retrospectively 
and caused the value of a number of items in the statement of financial position and 
operating revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than United States 
dollars to have values different under IFRS. Most significantly, under IFRS, this change 
resulted in the Company experiencing a foreign exchange gain of $3,514,259 for the 
year ended June 30, 2011, as compared to a foreign exchange loss of $1,753,754 under 
Canadian GAAP. For the year ended June 30, 2011, this change resulted in revenue 
measured under IFRS being lower than what would have been reported under Canadian 
GAAP by an amount of $4,116,825, primarily as a result of the fact that our historical 
U.S. dollar denominated deferred revenues were recorded at an average foreign 
exchange rate of 1.0373.  
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This change also impacted the Company’s deferred income tax recoveries and expenses 
due to the application of movements in foreign exchange rates against the Company’s 
future income tax assets, which are recorded as part of income tax recovery or expense.  
Under Canadian GAAP, the Company recorded an income tax expense of $1,486,000 for 
the year ended June 30, 2011 as compared to an IFRS income tax recovery of $968,812. 

Deferred income taxes – Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income taxes (future income 
taxes) were classified as current or long term based on the underlying classification of 
the item in the statement of financial position on which it was calculated. Under IFRS, 
deferred income taxes are all long-term. Due to the change in the net book value of 
certain assets under IFRS, primarily related to the change in the Company’s functional 
currencies, deferred income taxes were affected accordingly.  At the Transition Date, 
the Company reclassed $9,303,691 from current to long-term deferred tax assets.  

The change in functional currency also impacted the Company’s deferred income tax 
recoveries and expenses due to the application of movements in foreign exchange rates 
against the Company’s future income tax assets.  These foreign exchange movements 
are recorded as part of income tax recovery or expense.  For a description of these 
changes, see the “Functional Currency” section above. 
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Quarterly financial information under IFRS 
 
The following table outlines our financial position as at the end of each quarter in Fiscal 2011, 
accounted for under IFRS and presented in U.S. dollars: 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION (Unaudited)  

September 30, 
2010 

December 31, 
2010 

March 31, 
2011 

June 30, 
2011 

ASSETS  
  CURRENT  

Cash and cash equivalents  $  31,584,505  $  28,818,138 $  29,406,822 $ 29,866,741 
Short-term investments  1,569,919 820,655 835,691 6,964,589 
Trade and other receivables  14,217,440 13,771,532 12,914,154 16,174,126 
Prepaid expenses and other  1,040,736 1,184,218 1,534,348 1,598,015 

  48,412,600 44,594,543 44,691,015  54,603,471 
INVESTMENTS  23,109,980 23,964,292 24,744,070 18,905,433 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  2,308,587 2,177,959 2,176,502 1,840,824 
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS  18,973,412 19,686,776 20,797,357 20,845,469 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS  25,795,781 24,639,466 23,296,359 22,323,743 
  $ 118,600,360 $ 115,063,036  $ 115,705,303 $ 118,518,940 

     
LIABILITIES     
     CURRENT     

Trade and other payables  $   7,758,331 $   8,794,105 $    9,776,541 $   8,768,886 
Income tax payable  1,213,778 1,828,823 542,355 - 
Acquisition payable – current  1,679,860 1,710,724 1,721,363 1,762,611 
Accrued warranty – current  990,000 960,000 910,000 880,000 
Deferred revenue – current   54,172,864 54,772,716 54,954,586 55,923,312 

  65,814,833 68,066,368 67,904,845 67,334,809 

ACQUISITION PAYABLE  3,278,822 1,624,411 1,590,162 1,623,041 
DEFERRED REVENUE  50,714,805 51,081,392 51,472,123 55,255,525 

  119,808,460 120,772,171 120,967,130 124,213,375 
      SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY      

Share Capital  34,369,302 34,454,636 34,621,821 34,640,517 
Equity reserve  31,797,883 33,261,753 33,895,587 34,431,802 
Deficit  (67,375,285) (73,425,524) (73,779,235) (74,766,754) 

  (1,208,100) (5,709,135) (5,261,827) (5,694,435) 

  $  118,600,360 $ 115,063,036 $ 115,705,303 $ 118,518,940 
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The following table outlines our summarized results from operations and cash flows for each 
quarter in and for the full year of Fiscal 2011, accounted for under IFRS and presented in U.S. 
dollars: 

 

  For the three months ended For the year 
ended June 

30, 2011 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
(Unaudited)  

September 30, 
2010 

December 31, 
2010 

March 31, 
2011 

June 30, 
2011 

     
REVENUE  $  16,326,555 $  16,763,762 $  16,930,028 $  17,966,026 $  67,986,371 
       COST OF REVENUE  4,988,017 4,699,664 5,069,258 4,523,699 19,280,638 
       GROSS MARGIN  11,338,538 12,064,098 11,860,770 13,442,327 48,705,733 
       
OPERATING EXPENSES       

Sales and marketing  8,884,189 7,918,600 8,197,596 7,263,009 32,263,394 
Research and development  2,920,694 2,929,074 2,954,303 2,819,404 11,623,475 
General and administration  1,564,768 2,153,817 1,989,870 2,164,446 7,872,901 
Investment tax credits  (383,368) (406,884) (2,003,178) (441,298) (3,234,728) 
Share-based compensation  761,927 1,496,752 663,186 622,343 3,544,208 

  13,748,210 14,091,359 11,801,777 12,427,904 52,069,250 
       OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME  (2,409,672) (2,027,261) 58,993 1,014,423 (3,363,517) 
       
OTHER INCOME       

Interest income, net  181,753 151,786 160,154 249,702 743,395 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  1,627,106 1,097,695 918,729 (129,271) 3,514,259 
Gain on investments  1,316 282,038 - - 283,354 

  1,810,175 1,531,519 1,078,883 120,431 4,541,008 
       NET (LOSS) INCOME BEFORE 

INCOME TAXES 
 

(599,497) (495,742) 1,137,876 1,134,854 1,177,491 
       
INCOME TAX RECOVERY (EXPENSE)  664,830 (259,188) 434,698 128,472 968,812 
       NET INCOME (LOSS)  $     65,333 $   (754,930) $   1,572,574 $     1,263,326 $     2,146,303 
       BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) 

INCOME PER SHARE 
 

         $         0.00 $           (0.02) 0.04          $  0.03          $  0.05 
       
       
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(Unaudited) 

 

     
CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  $      3,443,572 $      3,239,017 $      3,034,473 $      3,123,880 $     12,840,941 
CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES 
 

3,977,730 (261,712) (738,366) (413,189) 2,564,463 
CASH USED IN FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 
 

(2,802,185) (6,119,524) (1,823,996) (2,318,277) (13,063,982) 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EFFECT ON 

CASH 
 

590,340 375,852 116,573 67,505 1,150,270 
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 5,209,457  (2,766,367)  588,684  459,919  3,491,693 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 

END OF PERIOD 
 

$   31,584,505 $   28,818,138 $   29,406,822 $   29,866,741 $   29,866,741 
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  

Disclosure controls and procedures 

The Company has disclosure controls and procedures in place that are designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to Absolute is disclosed 
on a timely basis. Management has reviewed the Company’s disclosure controls and 
concluded that they were effective during the reporting period. 

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) have evaluated 
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures related to the 
preparation of Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the consolidated financial 
statements. They have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective, at a reasonable assurance level, to ensure that material information 
relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which the Management’s 
discussion and analysis and the consolidated financial statements contained in this report 
were being prepared. 

Internal control over financial reporting 

The Company has also designed internal controls over financial reporting to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 
Absolute’s CEO and CFO have assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting as at June 30, 2012 in accordance with Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, Absolute’s CEO and CFO have 
determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective as at 
June 30, 2012 and expect to certify Absolute’s annual filings with the Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities. 

Changes in internal control over financial reporting 

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. 
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Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company is selling and developing products and services for new and emerging 
markets and, as a result, faces a number of risks, many of which are outlined below. 

Economic Uncertainty - Many of Absolute’s customers are being affected by economic 
conditions affecting the broader market.  Current and future conditions in the domestic 
and global economies remain uncertain.  As a result, it is difficult to estimate the level of 
growth or contraction for the economy as a whole.  It is even more difficult to estimate 
growth or contraction in various parts, sectors and regions of the economy, including the 
markets in which the Company participates.  Because all components of the Company’s 
budgeting and forecasting are dependent upon estimates of growth or contraction in the 
markets it serves and demand for its products and services, the prevailing economic 
uncertainties render estimates of future income and expenditures very difficult to make.  
Adverse changes may occur as a result of soft economic conditions, wavering consumer 
confidence, unemployment, declines in stock markets, contraction of credit availability, 
declines in real estate values, or other factors affecting economic conditions generally.  
These changes may negatively affect the sales of the Company’s products and services, 
and therefore impact its ability to meet its targets for Cash from Operating Activities and 
Sales Contracts and affect the Company’s ability to retain key employees, or increase the 
exposure to losses from investments and bad debts. 

Ability to Predict Rate of Growth and Profitability – Absolute focuses on sales growth 
and Cash from Operating Activities as its key performance metrics and management 
believes that revenue and IFRS profitability will approach the Company’s Cash Margins as 
the rate of growth slows. However, due to the evolving SaaS business model and the 
unpredictability of our emerging category of security, Absolute may not be able to 
accurately forecast the rate of adoption of its services and hence its sales growth. 
Absolute bases its current and future expense levels and its investment plans on 
estimates of future sales growth. Absolute may not be able to adjust its spending quickly 
enough if the rate of new or renewed subscriptions falls short of its expectations.  As a 
result, Absolute’s operating results may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. In 
addition, Absolute’s historic Sales Contract, revenue and cash flow growth rates may not 
be sustainable and may decline in the future. Accordingly, period-to-period comparisons 
of our operating results may not necessarily be a meaningful indicator of future 
performance. 

Dependence on Distribution Channels – Absolute generates a substantial portion of its 
revenue through PC OEM channels and its sales strategy is built upon Absolute’s ability to 
continue to maintain its BIOS position with these partners and grow its reseller channels. 
If unable to access end customers through its reseller channels, Absolute will have to 
change its sales strategy and may not be able to grow at the rates anticipated.   

Competition – It is also possible that new competitors will enter the marketplace. Several 
potential competitors are marketing or have announced the development of computer 
products in direct competition with Absolute. In addition, as Absolute develops new 
services, the Company may begin competing against companies with whom it did not 
previously compete. Such competitors may be able to develop and expand their services 
more quickly, adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in 
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customer requirements, take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more 
readily, devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their services and products 
than Absolute and place downward pressure on the pricing of Absolute’s products. 
Accordingly, the entry of new competitors could have a material adverse effect on 
Absolute’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, 
competitors are continuing to surface as security and management applications for 
mobile devices are introduced to market. 

Customer Subscription Renewal Rates – Absolute generates more than 50% of its annual 
sales through purchases and subscription renewals from existing customers. Our 
customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, 
including their level of satisfaction with the services and their ability to continue their 
operations and spending levels. If our customers do not renew their service 
subscriptions, our revenue will decline and our business will suffer. 

Emerging Products and Technology – The market for Absolute’s products is still 
emerging and continued growth and demand for, and acceptance of, these products 
remains uncertain. In addition, other emerging technology and products may impact the 
viability of the market for Absolute’s products. Absolute’s continued success will depend 
upon its ability to keep pace with technological and marketplace change and to 
introduce, on a timely and cost-effective basis, new and enhanced products that satisfy 
changing customer requirements and achieve market acceptance. There can be no 
assurance that Absolute will be able to respond effectively to changes in technology or 
customer demands. Moreover, there can be no assurance that Absolute’s competitors 
will not develop competitive products or that any such products will not have an adverse 
effect upon Absolute’s business, financial condition or results of operations. 

Absolute’s products are not available for every mobile computer and other mobile 
device (such as tablet computers, Ultrabooks and smartphones) that is or will be 
available in the marketplace, and some features of Absolute’s products are offered for 
only some devices.  Absolute targets its product development efforts towards those 
devices and operating systems that Absolute believes have the best strategic value to 
the company.  However, Absolute may not be successful in identifying future trends in 
the marketplace for these devices on a timely basis, or in creating or adapting 
Absolute’s products and features for enough of the devices that are available.    

Microsoft Operating Systems – Absolute has designed the majority of its services to 
operate on certain generations of Microsoft Windows operating systems. The 
development by Microsoft of new versions of Windows and or upgrades or updates to 
Windows or other operating systems and or the market adoption of these or other 
operating systems developed by other vendors may have an adverse effect on Absolute’s 
business if the Company is not able to adapt its technology to be compatible with these 
new operating systems. 

Privacy Law Concerns – Absolute’s customers use our service to transmit, receive and 
store identifying information regarding their mobile computing devices, including 
location information. Our Computrace products and monitoring systems are developed 
to ensure that components or tools that enable personal information to be obtained 
from host computers are not resident in the products during normal use, and are only 
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implemented by Absolute’s trained experts in the case of emergency and on the 
instructions of our customers. While information obtained in normal usage is generally 
not of a personally identifiable nature, advances in location and tracking technology may 
evolve such that certain types of information collected in the tracking process could be 
considered to be personally identifiable information. Federal, provincial, state and 
foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws 
and regulations regarding the collection, use and disclosure of personal information 
obtained from consumers and individuals. The costs of compliance with, and other 
burdens imposed by, such laws and regulations that are applicable to the businesses of 
our customers may limit the use and adoption of our service and reduce overall demand 
for it. Even the perception of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may inhibit market 
adoption of our service in certain industries. 

Breach of Security Measures and Unauthorized Access – The Company’s service involves 
the storage and transmission of certain customer information, and security breaches 
could expose the Company to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible 
liability. Absolute’s technology and security measures have been designed and 
implemented in order to mitigate risks of this nature. However, if our security measures 
are breached as a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, 
during transfer of data to additional data centers or at any time, and, as a result, 
someone obtains unauthorized access to our data or our customers’ data, our reputation 
could be damaged, our business may suffer and Absolute could incur significant liability. 
The Company may be unable to anticipate new attack techniques or may not have time 
to implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our 
security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures 
could be harmed and Absolute could lose sales and customers. In addition, our 
customers may authorize third party service providers to access their customer data. 
Because the control of these third-party service providers is undertaken by our 
customers, Absolute cannot ensure the complete integrity or security of such 
transmissions or processing. 

Intellectual Property Licensing and or Enforcement – Absolute’s revenue, cost of sales 
and expenses may suffer if we cannot continue to license or enforce our intellectual 
property rights or if third parties assert that Absolute violates their intellectual property 
rights. The Company relies upon patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in 
the United States and similar laws in other countries, and agreements with employees, 
customers, suppliers and other parties, to establish and maintain intellectual property 
rights in its Computrace and Absolute Manage technology platforms. However, the 
industry in which the Company competes may include new or existing entrants that own, 
or claim to own, intellectual property and the Company has received, and may receive in 
the future, assertions and claims from third parties that the Company’s products infringe 
on their patents or other intellectual property rights (see “Patent Portfolio”). Litigation 
has been and will likely continue to be necessary to determine the scope, enforceability 
and validity of third-party proprietary rights or to establish the Company’s proprietary 
rights.  Any of the Company’s direct or indirect intellectual property rights could be 
challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or such intellectual property rights may not be 
sufficient to permit Absolute to take advantage of current market trends or otherwise to 
provide competitive advantages, which could result in costly or delayed product redesign 
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efforts, discontinuance of certain product offerings or other competitive harm. Further, 
the laws of certain countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the 
laws of the United States. Therefore, in certain jurisdictions Absolute may be unable to 
protect its proprietary technology adequately against unauthorized third-party copying 
or use, which could adversely affect its competitive position. Third parties also may claim 
that Absolute or customers or partners indemnified by Absolute are infringing upon their 
intellectual property rights. In recent years, individuals and groups have begun 
purchasing intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making claims of 
infringement and attempting to extract settlements from established companies. Even if 
management believes that the claims are without merit, the claims can be time-
consuming and costly to defend and divert management’s attention and resources away 
from the business. Claims of intellectual property infringement also might require 
Absolute to redesign affected products, enter into costly settlement or license 
agreements (if such licenses can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms, or at all) 
or pay costly damage awards, or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting 
the marketing or selling certain of our products, which could result in the Company’s 
business, operating results and financial condition being materially adversely affected.   

Management of Growth – In prior fiscal years, Absolute has experienced rapid sales 
growth and has been focused on continuing this growth trend. This has resulted, at 
times, in increasing headcount and operational costs to generate and support this 
growing customer base, which has placed, and will continue to place, to the extent that 
Absolute is able to sustain such growth, a significant strain on management, 
administrative, operational and financial infrastructure. Absolute anticipates that further 
growth will be required to address increases in the customer base, further development 
of the service, as well as expansion into new geographic areas.  Further growth will 
require Absolute to continue to hire, train and manage new employees as needed. If new 
hires perform poorly, or if Absolute is unsuccessful in hiring, training, managing and 
integrating these new employees, or if Absolute is not successful in retaining existing 
employees, our business may be harmed. In addition, we may continue to expand our 
sales teams in an attempt to increase sales growth. Such growth may not match or 
exceed the increase of operations costs associated with such hiring, training, managing 
and integrating of such employees. 

Reliance on Key Personnel – Absolute’s future performance depends in part upon 
attracting and retaining key technical, sales and management personnel. There can be no 
assurance that Absolute can retain these personnel and continue to recruit required 
talent.  The loss of the services of Absolute’s key employees could have a material 
adverse effect on Absolute’s business, operating results and financial condition. 

Cyclical Nature of our Business – Our business may be impacted from time to time by 
the general cyclical and seasonal nature of PC and other device purchases by corporate 
and governmental entities. Factors which may create cyclical fluctuations include the 
development and adoption of new operating system software, the expiry of leases on 
devices or the introduction of newer or more advanced devices, legal and regulatory 
requirements, timing of contract renewals between our partners and their own 
customers and seasonal-based purchasing for educational institutions. Since some of 
our revenues from particular products and services are tied to the volume of shipments 
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being processed, adverse fluctuations in the volume of global shipments may adversely 
affect our revenues. There can be no assurance that declines in shipment volumes in the 
U.S. or internationally will not have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Volatility in our Share Price – The trading price of our common shares has in the past 
been subject to wide fluctuations and may also be subject to fluctuation in the future. 
This may make it more difficult for you to resell your common shares when you want at 
prices that you find attractive. Increases in our common share price may also increase 
our compensation expense pursuant to our existing director, officer and employee 
compensation arrangements. Fluctuations in our common share price may be caused by 
events unrelated to our operating performance and beyond our control. Factors that 
may contribute to fluctuations include, but are not limited to:  

• Revenue or results of operations in any quarter failing to meet the expectations, 
published or otherwise, of the investment community;  

• Changes in recommendations or financial estimates by industry or investment 
analysts;  

• Changes in management or the composition of our board of directors;  
• Outcomes of litigation or arbitration proceedings;  
• Announcements of technological innovations or acquisitions by us or by our 

competitors;  
• Introduction of new products or significant customer wins or losses by us or by 

our competitors;  
• Developments with respect to our intellectual property rights or those of our 

competitors;  
• Fluctuations in the share prices of other companies in the technology and 

emerging growth sectors;  
• General market conditions; and  
• Other risk factors set out in this report.  

If the market price of our common shares drops significantly, shareholders could 
institute securities class action lawsuits against us, regardless of the merits of such 
claims. Such a lawsuit could cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time 
and attention of our management and other resources from our business. 

Foreign Operations – The Company intends to continue to pursue international market 
growth opportunities, which could result in international sales accounting for an 
increasing portion of the Company’s consolidated revenues. The Company intends to 
commit increased resources to its international operations as well as to related sales and 
marketing activities. The Company maintains offices in Canada, the U.S., the United 
Kingdom and Germany. The Company may not be aware of all the factors that may affect 
its business in foreign jurisdictions. The Company will be subject to a number of risks 
associated with international business activities that may increase liability or costs, 
lengthen sales cycles or require significant management attention. International 
operations carry certain risks and associated costs, such as: the complexities and expense 
of administering a business abroad; complications in compliance with, and unexpected 
changes in legal and regulatory restrictions or requirements; foreign laws, international 
import and export legislation; trading and investment policies; foreign currency 
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fluctuations; exchange controls; tariffs and other trade barriers; difficulties in collecting 
accounts receivable; potential adverse tax consequences; uncertainties of laws and 
enforcement relating to intellectual property and privacy rights; unauthorized copying of 
software; difficulty in managing a geographically dispersed workforce in compliance with 
diverse local laws and customs; and other factors depending upon the country involved. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will not experience these risks in the 
future. If foreign operations expand to the point where they account for a significant 
portion of the Company’s consolidated revenues, the presence of such risks could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial 
condition.  

Fluctuation of Quarterly Results and Failure to Meet the Expectations of Analysts or 
Investors – Absolute’s quarterly operating results are likely to fluctuate, and if Absolute 
fails to meet or exceed the expectations of securities analysts or investors, the trading 
price of its common stock could decline. Moreover, the stock price may be based on 
expectations of Absolute’s future performance that may be unrealistic or that may not be 
met. Absolute believes that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of its results should not 
necessarily be relied upon as a reliable indicator of future performance. 

Litigation or Dispute Resolution – From time to time, we may be subject to litigation or 
dispute resolution relating to any number or type of claims, including claims for 
damages related to undetected errors or malfunctions of our services and products, 
claims related to previously-completed acquisition transactions or claims relating to 
applicable securities laws. A product liability, patent infringement, acquisition-related or 
securities class action claim could seriously harm our business because of the costs of 
defending the lawsuit, diversion of employees’ time and attention and potential damage 
to our reputation. Further, our services and products are complex and often 
implemented by our customers to interact with third-party technology. Claims may be 
made against us for damages properly attributable to those third-party technologies, 
regardless of our lack of responsibility for any failure resulting in a loss. As a result, we 
could be required to pay substantial amounts of damages in settlement or upon the 
determination of any of these types of claims and incur damage to the reputation of 
Absolute and our products. The likelihood of such claims and the amount of damages 
we may be required to pay may increase as our customers increasingly use our services 
and products. Our insurance may not cover potential claims, or may not be adequate to 
cover all costs incurred in defense of potential claims or to indemnify us for all liability 
that may be imposed. 

Efforts to Sell to Larger Enterprise Customers – As Absolute targets more sales efforts at 
larger enterprise customers, the Company could face greater costs, less favourable terms 
and conditions, longer sales cycles, less predictability in completing some sales and 
greater fluctuation in sales and cash flow in quarters where these large deals conclude. In 
this market segment, the customer’s decision to use Absolute’s service or products may 
be an enterprise-wide decision and, if so, these types of sales may require Absolute to 
provide greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of the service, as well 
as education regarding privacy and data protection laws and regulations to prospective 
customers with international operations. As a result of these factors, these sales 
opportunities may require Absolute to devote greater sales support and professional 
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services resources to individual customers, driving up costs and time required to 
complete sales and diverting sales and professional services resources to a smaller 
number of larger transactions. 

Foreign Exchange – The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the United 
States dollar. However, a significant portion of operating expenses is denominated in 
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company is exposed to fluctuations in the Canadian 
dollar exchange rate for which it has not entered into foreign exchange hedges. A 
significant appreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could materially 
impact the profitability of the company. In addition, the Company will be exposed to 
greater foreign exchange risk from other countries as our operations, and our operating 
expenses, expand in foreign jurisdictions. 

The Effect of Amortization of Revenue Over the Term of the Subscription – Absolute 
generally recognizes revenue from customer subscriptions ratably over the terms of the 
Sales Contracts. The average term is approximately 26 months, although terms can range 
from one year to as much as five years. As a result, most of the revenue the Company 
reports in each quarter results from the recognition of deferred revenue relating to Sales 
Contracts entered into during previous periods. Consequently, a decline in new or 
renewal subscriptions in any one quarter will not necessarily be fully reflected in the 
revenue in that quarter but will negatively affect revenue in future quarters. In addition, 
Absolute may be unable to adjust its cost structure to reflect the changes in Sales 
Contracts. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market 
acceptance of the Company’s service or products may not be fully reflected in Absolute’s 
results of operations until future periods. The Company’s subscription model also makes 
it difficult to rapidly increase revenue through additional sales in any period, as revenue 
from new customers must be deferred and recognized over the applicable subscription 
term. 

Sales Contracts – Management considers Sales Contracts to be one of the key financial 
performance indicators for the Company. Most Sales Contracts (greater than 80%) are 
conducted via channel partners who purchase from Absolute in order to resell to their 
customers. While Absolute’s services are provided directly to the end user customer, the 
orders, which include ship dates, customer name, product, pricing and volume, come in 
various forms from the reseller partner (sales reports, purchase orders, shipping reports, 
royalty reports, etc.). Absolute ships the software, commences the subscription term and 
invoices the reseller (and receives payment from the reseller) based on receipt of, or ship 
dates contained in, these forms of evidence of the end customer purchase, and reports 
this as a Sales Contract for the applicable period. Accordingly, Absolute is relying upon 
the reseller partner to have sufficiently concluded the sales process with the end user 
customer to ensure that the order is valid and the risk of returns is kept to a minimum. 
Historically, Absolute’s experience with returns has corroborated that this reliance is 
justified. However, it is possible that a reseller may order from us and subsequently 
return the product in accordance with generally accepted industry return practices. In 
such cases, if a sale had been reported in a prior period, it would have to be 
subsequently reversed, impacting future Sales Contracts and revenue performance. 
However, Absolute does not make a provision against Sales Contracts for potential 
returns for the following reasons: revenue recognition from Sales Contracts does not 



46  |  Absolute Software • 2012 Annual Report45 
 

commence until the month after sale so there would be no income statement impact as 
a result of such provision; and the revenue recognition term averages approximately 27 
months compared to industry standard return policies which are generally less than 90 
days, so any returns are generally accounted for prior to any material recognition of 
revenue. Accordingly, the effect of any customer returns may not be fully reflected in 
Sales Contracts and deferred revenue figures until a future period.   

Product Errors and Third-Party Mischief – The software technology enabling Absolute’s 
software services is complex and the related application software may contain errors or 
defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released. Any errors 
that are discovered after commercial release could result in loss of revenues or delay in 
market acceptance, diversion of development resources, damage to Absolute’s 
reputation, increased service and warranty costs and liability claims. In addition, it is 
possible that the Company’s product may become the subject of a third party attack or 
disruption, whether malicious or otherwise.  This could detrimentally affect the 
persistence of the Company’s technology, which could have a material adverse effect on 
its business.  

Operating Environment – The Computrace software that enables Absolute’s product 
operates in a potentially hostile environment. In addition, Absolute’s Computrace 
services rely upon connection to the Absolute Monitoring Center. If the computer is 
prevented from making, or is not able to make, a connection, Absolute will not have an 
opportunity to assist in recovering the stolen computer. If Absolute is unable to 
successfully demonstrate to customers that the Computrace Agent will call in, it may 
affect Absolute’s ability to sell its Computrace line of products.  

Interruptions or Delays in Service From Our Third-Party Hosting Facilities – Absolute 
currently serves its customers from facilities that include third-party hosting facilities 
located on the west coast of Canada and the U.S.  Damage to, or failure of, our systems 
generally could result in interruptions in our service. Interruptions in our service may 
reduce our revenue, cause us to issue credits or pay penalties, cause customers to 
terminate their subscriptions and adversely affect our renewal rates and our ability to 
attract new customers. Our business will also be harmed if our customers and potential 
customers believe our service is unreliable. 

As part of our current disaster recovery arrangements, redundant hardware is deployed 
where possible in all production customer environments.  Production data is backed up 
onto encrypted media and taken off-site. The recovery procedures and encryption keys 
are held remotely by Absolute employees, so that the systems can be restored in the 
event of a site-wide disaster. Other than contractual assurances and agreed-to controls, 
Absolute does not control the operation of any of these facilities and they are vulnerable 
to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, 
telecommunications failures and similar events. They may also be subject to break-ins, 
sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and similar misconduct. Despite precautions 
taken at these facilities, the occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of terrorism, a 
decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems 
at these facilities could result in lengthy interruptions in our service. Even with the 
disaster recovery arrangements, our service could be interrupted. 
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Legislative Risk – New laws that restrict the manner in which we conduct forensic 
investigations, or our ability to track and recover missing devices, could negatively 
impact our revenue, profit, and cash flows.  Certain investigative techniques may 
become prohibited in certain jurisdictions, or additional and more costly steps or 
changes to our technology may be required in order to comply with new laws.  In 
addition, our business model may be inadvertently caught by laws intended o address 
other problems that are receiving increasing attention from the media, the public and 
legislators.  If these proposed laws do not include appropriate exemptions for theft 
recovery, we may incur higher costs for lobbying ad education efforts or may need to 
change our theft recovery methodology, our recovery success rate may decline and our 
service guarantee payments may increase. 
Consumer Product Liability – With the expansion of its consumer business, as with all 
manufacturers of products and services designed for use by consumers, the Company 
may be subject to claims related to product liability and consumer protection legislation, 
particularly in the U.S.  Although the Company is insured for claims relating to product 
liability, no assurance can be given that a judgment will not be rendered against it in an 
amount exceeding the amount of insurance coverage or in respect of a claim for which 
the Company is not insured. 

Ability to Successfully Integrate Acquisitions – We expect to continue to evaluate 
possible acquisitions of, or strategic investments in, businesses, products or 
technologies that are complementary to our business. In December 2009, we acquired 
certain assets of Pole Position Software GmbH, and in April 2010, we acquired certain 
technology assets of Phoenix Technologies Ltd. We may not realize future benefits from 
any of these past or future acquisitions nor be able to release new products and 
features arising from these acquisitions to market in a timely manner. If we fail to 
integrate successfully our past and future acquisitions, or the technologies associated 
with such acquisitions, the revenue and operating results of the combined company 
could be adversely affected. Any integration process will require significant time and 
resources and we may not be able to manage the process successfully. If our customers 
are uncertain about our ability to operate on a combined basis, they could delay or 
cancel orders for our products. We may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired 
technology and accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, 
including accounting charges. The areas where we may face risks include:  

• difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, products and personnel of 
the companies we acquire into our operations; 

• potential disruption of our on-going business and diversion of management’s 
attention from normal daily operations of the business; 

• insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with acquisitions; 
• potential for third party intellectual property infringement claims against the 

companies we acquire; 
• failure to successfully further develop acquired technology, resulting in the 

impairment of amounts capitalized as intangible assets; 
• impairment of relationships with customers and partners of the companies we 

acquire or in which we invest, or with our customers and partners, as a result of 
the integration of acquired operations; 

• impairment of relationships with employees of the acquired companies or our 
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existing employees as a result of integration of new management personnel; 
• impact of known potential liabilities or unknown liabilities associated with the 

companies we acquire; and 
• in the case of foreign acquisitions, uncertainty regarding foreign laws and 

regulations and difficulty integrating operations and systems as a result of 
cultural, systems and operational differences. 

We are likely to experience similar risks in connection with our future acquisitions, if 
any. Our failure to be successful in addressing these risks or other problems 
encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions could cause us to fail to 
realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions, incur unanticipated liabilities and 
adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition, or result in 
significant or material control weaknesses.  

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity 
securities, a decrease in our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the 
incurrence of additional expense related to compliance, contingent liabilities or 
amortization of expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our 
financial condition and negatively impact our operating results.  

Additional Patent Applications – The Company’s commercial success depends upon its 
ability to develop new or improved technologies and products and to successfully obtain 
patent or other proprietary or statutory protection for these technologies and products 
in Canada, the United States and other countries. The Company seeks to patent 
concepts, components, protocols and other inventions that are considered to have 
commercial value or that will likely yield a technological advantage. The Company owns 
rights to patented and patent pending technologies in the United States, Canada and 
other countries. However, the Company may not be able to develop new technology that 
is patentable, new patents may not be issued in connection with the Company’s pending 
applications and allowed claims may not be sufficient to protect the Company’s new 
technology. Furthermore, any patents issued could be challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented and may not provide proprietary protection or a competitive advantage. 
New entrants to the field may have been issued patents, and may have filed patent 
applications or may obtain additional patents and proprietary rights, for technologies 
similar to those that the Company has made or may make in the future. Since patent 
applications filed before November 29, 2000 in the United States are maintained in 
secrecy until issued as patents, and since publication or public awareness of new 
technologies often lags behind actual discoveries, the Company cannot be absolutely 
certain that it was the first to develop the technology covered by its pending patent 
applications or that it was the first to file patent applications for the technology. In 
addition, the disclosure in the Company’s new patent applications, particularly in respect 
of the utility of its claimed inventions, may not be sufficient to meet the statutory 
requirements for patentability in all cases. As a result, there can be no assurance that the 
Company’s new patent applications will result in enforceable patents, nor can the 
breadth of allowed claims in the Company’s patents, and their enforceability, be 
predicted. Even if the Company’s patents are held to be enforceable, others may be able 
to design around these patents or develop products similar to the Company’s products 
that are not within the scope of these patents. 
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existing employees as a result of integration of new management personnel; 
• impact of known potential liabilities or unknown liabilities associated with the 

companies we acquire; and 
• in the case of foreign acquisitions, uncertainty regarding foreign laws and 

regulations and difficulty integrating operations and systems as a result of 
cultural, systems and operational differences. 

We are likely to experience similar risks in connection with our future acquisitions, if 
any. Our failure to be successful in addressing these risks or other problems 
encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions could cause us to fail to 
realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions, incur unanticipated liabilities and 
adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition, or result in 
significant or material control weaknesses.  

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity 
securities, a decrease in our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the 
incurrence of additional expense related to compliance, contingent liabilities or 
amortization of expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our 
financial condition and negatively impact our operating results.  

Additional Patent Applications – The Company’s commercial success depends upon its 
ability to develop new or improved technologies and products and to successfully obtain 
patent or other proprietary or statutory protection for these technologies and products 
in Canada, the United States and other countries. The Company seeks to patent 
concepts, components, protocols and other inventions that are considered to have 
commercial value or that will likely yield a technological advantage. The Company owns 
rights to patented and patent pending technologies in the United States, Canada and 
other countries. However, the Company may not be able to develop new technology that 
is patentable, new patents may not be issued in connection with the Company’s pending 
applications and allowed claims may not be sufficient to protect the Company’s new 
technology. Furthermore, any patents issued could be challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented and may not provide proprietary protection or a competitive advantage. 
New entrants to the field may have been issued patents, and may have filed patent 
applications or may obtain additional patents and proprietary rights, for technologies 
similar to those that the Company has made or may make in the future. Since patent 
applications filed before November 29, 2000 in the United States are maintained in 
secrecy until issued as patents, and since publication or public awareness of new 
technologies often lags behind actual discoveries, the Company cannot be absolutely 
certain that it was the first to develop the technology covered by its pending patent 
applications or that it was the first to file patent applications for the technology. In 
addition, the disclosure in the Company’s new patent applications, particularly in respect 
of the utility of its claimed inventions, may not be sufficient to meet the statutory 
requirements for patentability in all cases. As a result, there can be no assurance that the 
Company’s new patent applications will result in enforceable patents, nor can the 
breadth of allowed claims in the Company’s patents, and their enforceability, be 
predicted. Even if the Company’s patents are held to be enforceable, others may be able 
to design around these patents or develop products similar to the Company’s products 
that are not within the scope of these patents. 
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Other Proprietary Rights – In addition to patents, the Company relies on, among other 
things, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual 
provisions to protect its proprietary rights.  While the Company enters into 
confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with its employees, consultants, business 
partners, customers, potential customers and other third parties having access to 
proprietary and confidential information, it is possible that the following may occur: 
some or all of its confidentiality agreements will not be honored; third parties will 
independently develop equivalent technology or misappropriate the Company’s 
technology and/or designs; disputes will arise with the Company’s strategic partners, 
customers or others concerning the ownership of intellectual property; there may occur 
an unauthorized disclosure of source code, know-how or trade secrets; or contractual 
provisions may not be enforced in foreign jurisdictions. There can be no assurance that 
the Company will be successful in protecting its proprietary rights. 

Development of Brand – Absolute believes that developing and maintaining awareness 
of its proprietary and licensed brands in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving 
widespread acceptance of its existing and future services and is an important element in 
attracting new customers. Furthermore, Absolute believes that the importance of brand 
recognition will increase if competition in our market develops or intensifies. Successful 
promotion of our brands will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts 
and on our ability to provide reliable secure and useful services at competitive prices. If 
Absolute fails to successfully promote and maintain its brands, or incurs substantial 
expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain its brands, Absolute may 
fail to attract enough new customers or retain existing customers to the extent necessary 
to realize a sufficient return on brand-building efforts.   

Income Taxes – Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income 
taxes. Various internal and external factors may have favourable or unfavourable effects 
on our future provision for income taxes, income taxes payable and/or effective income 
tax rate. These factors include, but are not limited to: changes in tax laws, regulations 
and/or rates; results of audits by tax authorities; changing interpretations of existing tax 
laws or regulations; changes in estimates of prior years’ items; future levels of R&D 
spending; changes in the overall mix of income among the different jurisdictions in 
which we operate; and changes in overall levels of income before taxes. To the extent 
that the taxation authorities do not agree with our tax positions, we may not be able to 
realize all or a portion of the tax benefits recognized. Furthermore, new accounting 
pronouncements or new interpretations of existing accounting pronouncements (such 
as those described in “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” in this MD&A) can have a 
material impact on our effective income tax rate. 

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns and pay income taxes in 
jurisdictions where we believe we are subject to tax.  In jurisdictions in which the 
Company and its subsidiaries do not believe we are subject to tax and therefore do not 
file income tax returns, we can provide no certainty that tax authorities in those 
jurisdictions will not subject one or more tax years (since inception of the Company or 
its subsidiaries) to examination.  Tax examinations are often complex as tax authorities 
may disagree with the treatment of items reported by the Company, the result of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 



50  |  Absolute Software • 2012 Annual Report49 
 

Securities Analysts – The trading market for Absolute’s common stock is in part affected 
by the research and reports that independent industry or financial analysts publish about 
Absolute or its business. Absolute does not control these analysts. If one or more of the 
analysts who publish reports on Absolute were to downgrade Absolute’s stock or lower 
future stock price targets or estimates of operating results, Absolute’s stock price could 
be adversely affected. Furthermore, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of 
Absolute, Absolute could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause 
Absolute’s stock price to decline. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
  
To the Shareholders of Absolute Software Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Absolute Software 
Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2012, June 
30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) 
income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.  
  
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
  
Auditor's Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
  
Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Absolute Software Corporation as at June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
(signed) “Deloitte & Touche, LLP” 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
August 13, 2012 

ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 

 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
(signed) “John Livingston”____    (signed) “J. Ian Giffen”___ 
John Livingston, Director     J. Ian Giffen, Director 

 
 

Notes 
June 30, 

2012 
June 30, 

 2011 
July 1,  
2010 

   (Note 20) (Note 20) 
ASSETS     

   CURRENT   
Cash and cash equivalents  $   45,412,147 $  29,866,741 $  26,375,048 
Short-term investments (Note 3) 8,642,435 6,964,589 6,030,609 
Trade and other receivables (Note 4) 18,105,369 16,174,126 13,051,372 
Prepaid expenses and other  2,010,165 1,598,015 1,079,872 

  74,170,116  54,603,471  46,536,901 
INVESTMENTS (Note 3) 15,875,256 18,905,433 22,099,547 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 5) 1,561,495 1,840,824 2,417,005 
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS (Note 12) 19,848,221 20,845,469 18,240,815 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 6) 18,256,872 22,323,743 26,750,552 
  $ 129,711,960 $ 118,518,940 $ 116,044,820 
     
LIABILITIES     
     CURRENT     

Trade and other payables (Note 7) $     7,016,921 $   8,768,886 $   7,688,207 
Income tax payable (Note 12) - - 1,479,398 
Acquisition payable – current (Note 8) 1,657,949 1,762,611 1,623,681 
Accrued warranty (Note 9) 590,000 880,000 1,020,000 
Deferred revenue – current  (Note 10) 63,173,264 55,923,312 51,507,198 

  72,438,134 67,334,809 63,318,484 
ACQUISITION PAYABLE (Note 8) - 1,623,041 3,278,822 
DEFERRED REVENUE (Note 10) 62,038,434 55,255,525 48,680,689 
  134,476,568 124,213,375 115,277,995 

COMMITMENTS (Note 16)    
CONTINGENCIES (Note 18)    
     SHAREHOLDERS’ (DEFICIENCY) EQUITY     

Share capital (Note 11(b)) 38,625,463 34,640,517 34,306,576 
Equity reserve  35,751,185 34,431,802 31,113,973 
Deficit  (79,141,256) (74,766,754) (64,653,724) 

  (4,764,608) (5,694,435) 766,825 
  $ 129,711,960 $  118,518,940 $  116,044,820 

 
SUBSEQUENT EVENT (Note 19) 
 
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 

 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
(signed) “John Livingston”____    (signed) “J. Ian Giffen”___ 
John Livingston, Director     J. Ian Giffen, Director 

 
 

Notes 
June 30, 

2012 
June 30, 

 2011 
July 1,  
2010 

   (Note 20) (Note 20) 
ASSETS     

   CURRENT   
Cash and cash equivalents  $   45,412,147 $  29,866,741 $  26,375,048 
Short-term investments (Note 3) 8,642,435 6,964,589 6,030,609 
Trade and other receivables (Note 4) 18,105,369 16,174,126 13,051,372 
Prepaid expenses and other  2,010,165 1,598,015 1,079,872 

  74,170,116  54,603,471  46,536,901 
INVESTMENTS (Note 3) 15,875,256 18,905,433 22,099,547 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 5) 1,561,495 1,840,824 2,417,005 
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS (Note 12) 19,848,221 20,845,469 18,240,815 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 6) 18,256,872 22,323,743 26,750,552 
  $ 129,711,960 $ 118,518,940 $ 116,044,820 
     
LIABILITIES     
     CURRENT     

Trade and other payables (Note 7) $     7,016,921 $   8,768,886 $   7,688,207 
Income tax payable (Note 12) - - 1,479,398 
Acquisition payable – current (Note 8) 1,657,949 1,762,611 1,623,681 
Accrued warranty (Note 9) 590,000 880,000 1,020,000 
Deferred revenue – current  (Note 10) 63,173,264 55,923,312 51,507,198 

  72,438,134 67,334,809 63,318,484 
ACQUISITION PAYABLE (Note 8) - 1,623,041 3,278,822 
DEFERRED REVENUE (Note 10) 62,038,434 55,255,525 48,680,689 
  134,476,568 124,213,375 115,277,995 

COMMITMENTS (Note 16)    
CONTINGENCIES (Note 18)    
     SHAREHOLDERS’ (DEFICIENCY) EQUITY     

Share capital (Note 11(b)) 38,625,463 34,640,517 34,306,576 
Equity reserve  35,751,185 34,431,802 31,113,973 
Deficit  (79,141,256) (74,766,754) (64,653,724) 

  (4,764,608) (5,694,435) 766,825 
  $ 129,711,960 $  118,518,940 $  116,044,820 

 
SUBSEQUENT EVENT (Note 19) 
 
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



53

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
  
To the Shareholders of Absolute Software Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Absolute Software 
Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2012, June 
30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) 
income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.  
  
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
  
Auditor's Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
  
Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Absolute Software Corporation as at June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
(signed) “Deloitte & Touche, LLP” 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
August 13, 2012 
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 

 
 

 

  Year ended June 30, 
 Notes 2012 2011 
   (Note 20) 
    
REVENUE  $  74,564,704 $  67,986,371 
    COST OF REVENUE  19,701,385 19,280,638 
    GROSS MARGIN  54,863,319 48,705,733 
    
OPERATING EXPENSES    

Sales and marketing  33,213,549 32,263,394 
Research and development  11,743,694 11,623,475 
General and administration  7,204,407 7,872,901 
Investment tax credits  (2,372,000) (3,234,728) 
Share-based compensation (Note 11(f)) 2,478,178 3,544,208 

  52,267,828 52,069,250 
    OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)  2,595,491 (3,363,517) 
    
OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME     

Interest income, net  591,365 743,395 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain  (1,263,571) 3,514,259 
Gain on investments (Note 3) 30,078 283,354 

  (642,128) 4,541,008 
    NET INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES  1,953,363 1,177,491 

    
INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) RECOVERY (Note 12) (3,369,249) 968,812 

    NET (LOSS) INCOME AND  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME  $   (1,415,886) $   2,146,303 

    
BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE (Note 11(g))          $   (0.03)  $  0.05 

    
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES 

OUTSTANDING, BASIC (Note 11(g)) 43,428,911 44,983,784 
 
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

 

 Share Capital   
 Number of 

Common 
shares Amount Equity reserve Deficit Total 

      
BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2010 46,829,090 $ 34,306,576 $  31,113,973 $ (64,653,724) $  766,825 
Shares issued on options exercised 296,775 696,733 (226,379) - 470,354 
Shares issued under Employee Share 

Purchase Plan 184,987 607,896 - - 607,896 
Shares repurchased and cancelled 

under the Normal Course Issuer Bid (3,797,020) (1,840,656) - (12,259,333) (14,099,989) 
Shares issued on acquisition 166,666 869,968 -         - 869,968 
Share-based compensation expense - - 3,544,208 - 3,544,208 
Net income and total comprehensive 

income - - - 2,146,303 2,146,303 
BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2011 43,680,498 $ 34,640,517 $  34,431,802 $ (74,766,754) $   (5,694,435) 
Shares issued on options exercised 739,037 3,713,432 (1,158,795) - 2,554,637 
Shares issued under Employee Share 

Purchase Plan 175,102 597,531 - - 597,531 
Shares repurchased and cancelled 

under the Normal Course Issuer Bid (1,003,500) (1,153,451) - (2,958,616) (4,112,067) 
Shares issued on acquisition 166,666 827,434 -         - 827,434 
Share-based compensation expense - - 2,478,178 - 2,478,178 
Net loss and total comprehensive loss - - - (1,415,886) (1,415,886) 
BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2012 43,757,803 $ 38,625,463 $  35,751,185 $ (79,141,256) $ (4,764,608) 

 
 

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 

 

 

  Year ended June 30, 
 Notes 2012 2011 
  (Note 20) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Net (loss) income  $  (1,415,886) $     2,146,303 
Items not involving cash    

Amortization of property and equipment (Note 5) 1,269,694 1,669,966 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets (Note 6) 5,370,169 5,348,174 
Amortization of intangible assets – contract costs and brand (Note 6) 5,618,676 5,224,273 
Share-based compensation (Note 11(f)) 2,478,178 3,544,208 
Deferred income taxes (Note 12) 997,249 (2,604,654) 
Loss (gain) on investments (Note 3) (30,078) (283,354) 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss  1,237,311 (2,442,459) 
Non-cash interest and amortization  

of investment premium  379,386 474,960 
Change in non-cash working capital    

Trade and other receivables  (1,901,526) (3,122,754) 
Prepaid expenses and other  (569,799) (518,143) 
Intangible assets – contract costs and brand additions  (6,414,256) (5,986,150) 
Trade and other payables  (1,866,485) 19,019 
Income tax payable (Note 12) - (1,479,398) 
Accrued warranty  (290,000) (140,000) 
Deferred revenue  14,032,861 10,990,950 

    CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  18,895,494 12,840,941 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of property and equipment  (929,040) (1,060,399) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (350,069) (159,488) 
Acquisition payable  (833,333) (833,333) 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments  16,101,051  6,220,405 
Purchase of short-term investments  (355,752) (701,594) 
Purchase of investments  (16,046,523) (901,128) 

    CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (2,413,666) 2,564,463 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Repurchase of common shares for cancellation (Note 11(b)) (3,983,136) (14,099,989)  
Issuance of common shares (Note 11(b)) 3,165,584 1,036,007 

    CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (817,552) (13,063,982) 
    
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EFFECT ON CASH  (118,870) 1,150,271 
    INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  15,545,406 3,491,693 
    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR  29,866,741 26,375,048 
    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  $  45,412,147 $ 29,866,741 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION (NOTE 13) 

 
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  
 
Absolute Software Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Company Act 
(British Columbia) on November 24, 1993.  The Company’s principal business activities are the 
development, marketing, and support of computer security and endpoint management services 
and products. The Company’s head office, principal address and registered office is Suite 1600, 
1055 Dunsmuir Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V7X 1K8.  The Company’s services 
and products are powered by its proprietary and patented Computrace and Absolute Manage 
software systems. The Company markets its services and products through computer original 
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), distributors, value added resellers, and directly to its 
customers, who include corporations, government entities, educational institutions, and 
consumers. While the Company’s products are available internationally through resellers in 
Europe, Australia, South Africa, South America, and the Asia Pacific region, the majority of its 
sales are generated in North America. The Company trades on the TSX under the symbol ABT. 
 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Basis of presentation 

 
The Company previously prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) as set out in Part V of the 
Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”).  In 2010, the 
CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 
and required publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. Accordingly, these 
consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. In these consolidated 
financial statements, the term “Canadian GAAP” refers to Canadian GAAP before the Company’s 
adoption of IFRS.  
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standard 1, “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” 
(“IFRS 1”). Subject to certain transition elections disclosed in Note 20, the Company has 
consistently applied the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS statement of financial 
position as at July 1, 2010 and throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always 
been in effect.  Note 20 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported 
financial position and financial performance, including the nature and effect of significant 
changes in accounting policies from those used in its Canadian GAAP consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended June 30, 2011. 
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries. Certain information and note disclosures which are considered material to 
the understanding of the Company’s consolidated financial statements are provided below and 
in Note 20, along with reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition from 
Canadian GAAP to IFRS on financial performance and financial position.  
 
These consolidated financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for certain items not carried at historical cost as discussed below.  These consolidated 
financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on August 13, 2012. 

 
(b) Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Principles of consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the group. Principal (wholly owned) operating subsidiaries are: 

• Absolute Software, Inc. 
• Absolute Software EMEA Limited 
• Absolute Technology GmbH 
• Absolute Software (Asia) Pte. Ltd. 
• Absolute Software K.K. 

All significant intercompany balances, transactions, revenues and expenses are eliminated. 
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and each of its 
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
individual entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in United States dollars (“U.S. dollars”), which is the functional currency of the 
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries. The Company previously presented its 
consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars. 
 
Foreign currency transactions, including U.S. and Canadian dollar, Great Britain pound, and 
European euro operating transactions, are translated to U.S. dollars at the average exchange 
rate for the month, which approximates spot rates on transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of operations within foreign 
exchange (loss) gain. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, normally being the 
transaction price plus directly attributable transaction costs. Transaction costs related to 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are expensed 
immediately in profit or loss.  

The Company’s classification and measurement basis of its financial instruments are as follows: 
 

Instrument Classification Measurement Basis 
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Short-term investments – interest-
bearing securities (CAD) 

Fair value through 
profit or loss Fair value 

Short-term investments – interest-
bearing securities (USD) Held to maturity Amortized cost 

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Investments – interest-bearing securities 
(CAD) 

Fair value through 
profit or loss Fair value 

Investments – interest-bearing securities 
(USD) Held to maturity Amortized cost 

Trade and other payables Other liabilities Amortized cost 
Acquisition payable Other liabilities Amortized cost 
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ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Changes in items carried at fair value are recorded in the statement of operations. All amounts 
carried at amortized cost are calculated using the effective interest rate method.   
 
Estimated fair values for financial instruments are designed to approximate amounts at which 
the instruments could be exchanged in a current arm’s-length transaction between 
knowledgeable willing parties.  
 
The Company classifies and discloses fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy are: 
 

Level 1 – Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 

Level 3 – Valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs 
exist. A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a 
significant input has been considered in measuring fair value.  
 
The fair value of investments designated as fair value through profit or loss is recorded in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, with unrealized gains and losses, net of related 
income taxes, recorded in the statement of operations.  
 
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and highly liquid short-term interest-
bearing securities with maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Investments 
 
Short-term investments consist of highly liquid short-term interest bearing securities with 
maturities at the date of purchase of greater than three months, but less than one year, and of 
other marketable securities.  Investments whose maturity dates are less than one year from the 
date of the statement of financial position are classified as short term. 
 
Investments consist of highly liquid interest bearing securities with maturities at the date of 
purchase or the date of the statement of financial position of greater than one year. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost less provision for impairment of trade accounts receivable. A provision for impairment of 
trade accounts receivable is established when there is a reasonable expectation that the 
Company will not be able to collect all amounts due. The carrying amount of the trade 
receivables is reduced through the use of the provision for impairment account, and the amount 
of any increase in the provision for impairment is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
operations. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision for 
impairment account for trade accounts receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to the consolidated statements of operations. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and less any 
accumulated impairment loss. Each component of an item of property and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. When 
the cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is capitalized, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Maintenance and repair expenditures that do not 
improve or extend productive life are expensed in the period incurred. 
 
On an annual basis, the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the depreciation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
 
Amortization is calculated using the straight line method from the month of purchase over the 
following estimated useful lives: 
 

Asset  
Computer equipment 3 years 
Furniture and equipment 5 years 
Computer software 1 year 
Office equipment 3 years 
Trade show equipment 2 years 
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations and pursuant to asset purchases are 
recorded at their fair values.  Intangible assets related to the acquisition of patents from third 
parties are recorded at their fair values.   

The Company sells fixed-length service contracts (“sales contracts”) with monitoring and theft 
recovery terms ranging from one to five years. Sales commissions directly associated with sales 
contracts are deferred and amortized ratably to sales and marketing over the contract term in 
the statement of operations. 
 
Research costs are charged to operations when they are incurred.  Development costs are 
capitalized as intangible assets when the Company can demonstrate that the technical feasibility 
of the project has been established; the Company intends to complete the asset for use or sale 
and has the ability to do so; the asset can generate probable future economic benefits; the 
technical and financial resources are available to complete the development; and the Company 
can reliably measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.  At June 30, 2012, the Company has not capitalized any development costs. 
 

All the Company’s intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortized using the straight 
line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Asset  
Software – LANrev 5 years 
Contract costs Average contract term 
Customer relationships – LANrev 5 years 
Software – FailSafe and Freeze 3 years 

Patents and other Term of the patent or 4 
years 

Brand – LoJack royalties Average contract term 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Impairment of assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible 
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss, or any reversal of a previously-recognized impairment 
loss, is recognized immediately in profit or loss.   
 
Accrued warranty 
 
The Company provides a service guarantee, or warranty, on certain of its theft recovery 
offerings.  The warranty forms part of certain product offerings to which it is attached, and 
accordingly has a term matching that of the product offering. If a computer equipped with a 
product that includes the recovery guarantee is stolen, and the Company is unable to either 
recover the stolen computer, or delete data on it, then the customer may be eligible for a 
guarantee payment of up to $1,000. In order to qualify for the warranty, the customer must 
comply with the Company’s terms and conditions included in its End User Service Agreement, 
including the filing of a police report, amongst other criteria. The amount of the eligible 
warranty payment decreases in each year of the service contract and is also limited by the value 
of the stolen computer.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
At the end of each reporting period, estimates of future cash outflows under the service 
guarantee are made using the best information available of the cost of the warranty for events 
up to the date of the statement of financial position.  The carrying amount of the warranty 
liability is adjusted to those estimates, with changes recognized in the statement of operations.  
The warranty liability is estimated based on a number of factors, including the volume of 
computer thefts reported to the Company at each reporting date, an estimate of the number of 
thefts that have occurred but have not yet been reported as at each reporting date, the 
computer theft recovery rate, and historical warranty experience. The liability balance is drawn 
down by service guarantee payments issued. 
 
Income taxes 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Taxation is 
recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case the tax is recognized in equity.  
 
Current income tax is generally the expected income tax payable on the taxable income for the 
year calculated using rates enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of 
financial position in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate 
taxable income, and includes any adjustment to income tax payable or recoverable in respect of 
previous years.  
 
Uncertain income tax positions are accounted for using the standards applicable to current 
income tax assets and liabilities; i.e., both liabilities and assets are recorded when probable at 
the Company’s best estimate of the amount. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognized using the liability method, based on temporary differences 
between consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their 
respective income tax bases. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of financial position and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled. The amount of deferred income tax recognized is based on the expected 
manner and timing of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred 
income tax assets are reviewed at each date of the statement of financial position and amended 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable 
right to offset the recognized amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Normally the Company would only have a 
legally enforceable right to set off a current tax asset against a current tax liability when they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the taxation authority permits 
the Company to make or receive a single net payment. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity. 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
The Company sells services and products including computer theft recovery, secure asset 
tracking, and endpoint management. Revenue represents the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable from clients for services and products provided by the Company, net of 
discounts.  Revenues are recognized when a contractual arrangement is in place, the fee is fixed 
and determinable, the services and products have been delivered, and collectability is 
reasonably assured.  Amounts invoiced but not yet earned are recorded as deferred revenue. 
 
The Company’s principal source of revenue results from sales contracts for the above services, 
with subscription terms ranging from one to five years. The full value of each Sales Contract is 
invoiced and receivable upon execution of the contract, delivery of the products and initiation of 
the services. Typically, sales contracts are comprised of multiple elements, as they include 
software licensing, asset monitoring, theft recovery, and maintenance and support services over 
the term.  These elements are typically not separable for accounting purposes, and as a result, 
revenue from sales contracts is recognized ratably over the subscription term. Direct contract 
acquisition costs associated with sales contracts are deferred and amortized over the same 
period (see “Intangible Assets” above).  
 
A portion of the Company's sales contracts are accounted for as product revenue. Product 
revenue is recognized when the Company has an executed agreement, the product has been 
delivered, the amount of the fee to be paid by the customer is fixed and determinable, and the 
collection of the related receivable is deemed probable from the outset of the arrangement. 
 
Post-contract support, or maintenance, revenue associated with certain of the Company’s 
products is recognized on a straight-line basis over the maintenance term, which is generally 
one year.  Revenue not recognized in profit or loss under this policy is classified as deferred 
revenue in the statement of financial position when amounts have been billed in advance. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
The Company obtains the majority of its sales contracts through OEM and reseller partners, 
most of which are in North America. All sales contracts are recorded at the net amount received 
by Absolute from the reseller, provided that all significant contractual obligations have been 
satisfied and collection is reasonably assured. For direct sales, sales contracts are recorded at 
the amount received from the end customer. 
 
Deferred revenue is comprised of the remaining unamortized balance of sales contracts sold, 
and is generally recognized ratably over the remaining contract term. 

 
Cost of Revenue 

The primary components of cost of revenue are employee compensation, employee benefits, 
amortization of intangible assets, guarantee expenses, travel, services, and operating supplies. 
 
Sales and Marketing 

The primary components of sales and marketing are employee compensation, employee 
benefits, amortization of intangible assets, third-party marketing programs, office and 
communications, travel, and professional services. 
 
Research and development 

The primary components of research and development expenses are employee compensation, 
employee benefits, professional services, communications, and travel. 
 
General and administration 

The primary components of general and administration are employee compensation, employee 
benefits, communications, travel, public company administration, insurance, professional 
services, and amortization. 
 
Share-based compensation plans  
 
The Company has a stock option plan and an employee share purchase plan, which are 
described in Notes 11(c) and 11(e).  When stock or stock options are issued to employees, the 
Company records the estimated fair value of each vesting tranche of the share-based awards as 
compensation expense over the related vesting period of each tranche with a corresponding 
credit to equity reserve. Forfeitures are estimated on the date of grant and are re-assessed each 
reporting period.  Upon exercise of stock options or purchase of common shares, any 
consideration paid by employees, together with the amount previously recorded in equity 
reserve, is credited to share capital.  Volatility assumptions used in Black-Scholes option pricing 
models are based on historical averages.   
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Under the employee share purchase plan, the share-based compensation charge is determined 
by the difference between the share purchase price and market price at the start of each 
purchase period. 
 
(Loss) Income per share 
 
Basic (loss) income per share is calculated by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted (loss) income per share is 
calculated using the treasury stock method, which assumes that cash that would be received on 
the exercise of stock options is applied to purchase shares at the average price during the 
period. The difference between the shares issued on the exercise of the stock options and the 
number of shares purchased under this computation, on a weighted average basis, is added to 
the number of shares outstanding. Anti-dilutive stock options are not considered in computing 
diluted income per share. Stock options are typically dilutive when the Company has income for 
the year and the average market price of the common shares during the year exceeds the 
exercise price of the options.  
 
(c) Significant accounting judgment 
 
The critical judgment that the Company’s management has made in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations (Note 2(d)), that has the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements is related to the determination of the functional currency for the Company and its 
subsidiaries. 

 
(d) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period.  Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. The consolidated financial 
statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  The impacts of such 
estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, and may require 
accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and the revision affects both current 
and future periods.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the date of the statement of financial position, that could result in a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual 
results differ from assumptions made, include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• the assessment of the carrying values of allowances for unrecoverable accounts 
receivable and long-lived assets;  

• the inputs used in accounting for share-based compensation in the statement of 
operations; 

• the estimates used to determine the Company’s warranty liability; and 
• the recognition and recoverability of the Company’s deferred tax assets. 

 
(e) Adoption of Future Accounting Standards 

 
The IASB has issued the following amendments and new standards, which have not yet been 
adopted by the Company. Each of the amendments and new standards is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, unless otherwise indicated, with early adoption 
permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the 
amended and new standards will have on its consolidated financial statements or whether to 
early adopt any of the new requirements.  

The following is a description of the new or amended standards:  

IAS 1 – “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) 

Amendments to IAS 1 require that elements of other comprehensive income that may 
subsequently be reclassified through profit and loss be differentiated from those items that will 
not be reclassified.  These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s disclosures in its consolidated financial statements.  

IAS 12 – “Income Taxes” (“IAS 12”) 

Amendments to IAS 12 clarify how an entity should measure the deferred tax consequences 
related to accounting recoveries of previously-impaired assets and liabilities underlying deferred 
tax assets and liabilities.  These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 
January 1, 2012.  The Company does not believe these amendments will materially affect its 
financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 19 – “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”) 

Amendments to IAS 19 provide new requirements for the accounting for defined benefit 
pension plans. Most notably, the amendments mandate the immediate recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses, and require companies to use the same discount rate for both the defined 
benefit obligation and the expected asset return when calculating the interest component of 
pension expense. The Company does not believe the adoption of IAS 19 will materially affect its 
financial performance or its financial position. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

IAS 27 – “Separate Financial Statements” (“IAS 27”) 

IAS 27 prescribes the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures, and associations when an entity prepares separate financial statements.  The 
Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of IAS 27 on its financial performance 
or its financial position were it to prepare separate financial statements. 

IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (“IAS 28”) 

IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for 
the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint 
ventures.  The Company does not believe the adoption of IAS 28 will materially affect its 
financial performance or its financial position. 

IAS 32 – “Financial Instruments:  Presentation” (“IAS 32”) 

Amendments to IAS 32 provide specific guidance for when an entity can offset financial assets 
and liabilities by clarifying when a legally enforceable right to do so exists, and when an entity 
meets the criterion for the intent to settle on a net basis. These amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning after January 1, 2014.  The Company does not believe the 
amendments to IAS 32 will materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 7 – “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”) 

Amendments to IFRS 7 introduce enhanced disclosure around any financial instruments which 
are offset in accordance with IAS 32. These amendments are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Company’s disclosures in its consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and contained requirements for financial assets. This 
standard addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple 
category and measurement models in IAS 39 Financial Instruments – Recognition and 
measurement for debt instruments, with a new mixed measurement model having only two 
categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models 
for measuring equity instruments and such instruments are either recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss). Where such 
equity instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss), 
dividends are recognized in profit or loss to the extent not clearly representing a return of 
investment; however, other gains and losses (including impairments) associated with such 
instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive income (loss) indefinitely.  

Requirements for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely carried 
forward existing requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other 
comprehensive income (loss).  These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2015.  The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 
on its financial performance or its financial position. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

IFRS 10 – “Consolidation” (“IFRS 10”)  

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when 
an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 “Consolidation—Special Purpose 
Entities” and parts of IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.   The Company 
does not believe the adoption of IFRS 10 will materially affect its financial performance or its 
financial position. 

IFRS 11 – “Joint Arrangements” (“IFRS 11”)  

IFRS 11 requires a venture to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint 
operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas 
for a joint operation, the venture will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately 
consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, 
“Interests in Joint Ventures”, and SIC-13, “Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures”.   The Company does not believe the adoption of IFRS 10 will 
materially affect its financial performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (“IFRS 12”)  

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint 
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off-balance sheet vehicles. The standard 
carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure 
requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other 
entities. The Company does not believe the adoption of IFRS 10 will materially affect its financial 
performance or its financial position. 

IFRS 13 – “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”)  

IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements 
for use across all IFRS. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value 
measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed 
among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and, in many cases, does not 
reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. The Company has not yet assessed 
the impact of the adoption of IFRS 13 on its financial performance or its financial position. 
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3. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENTS  
 
The Company’s short-term investments are comprised of the following: 
 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 
   
Investment grade securities $    7,942,934 $    6,263,730 
Term deposits  699,501 700,859 
 $    8,642,435 $    6,964,589 
 
At June 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s long-term investments were comprised entirely of 
investment grade securities. 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company’s gain on investments was comprised entirely of 
an unrealized gain on investment grade securities.  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company’s gain on investments was comprised entirely of 
a realized gain on marketable securities.  
 
  

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

The Company’s trade and other receivables are comprised of the following: 
 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 
   
Trade receivables $     18,284,992 $    17,007,683 
Other receivables 736,315 627,303 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (915,938) (1,460,860) 
 $    18,105,369 $    16,174,126 
 

 
At June 30, 2012, 23% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance is over 90 days past due 
(June 30, 2011 – 20%).  As at June 30, 2012, 34%, 16%, 11%, and 10% (June 30, 2011 - 27%, 16%, 
4%, and 10%) of the receivable balances are owing from four OEM and reseller partners.   
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 June 30, 2012 
 

Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Carrying 
amount 

    
Computer equipment $     5,661,016 $  4,657,953 $   1,003,063 
Furniture and equipment 1,235,393 1,091,478 143,915 
Computer software 2,059,316 1,954,093 105,223 
Office equipment 1,543,733 1,311,829 231,904 
Trade show equipment 88,357 88,357 - 
Leasehold improvements 552,260 474,870 77,390 

 $  11,140,075 $  9,578,580 $  1,561,495 
 
 

 June 30, 2011 
 

Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Carrying 
amount 

    
Computer equipment $  4,937,523 $  4,028,699 $   908,824
Furniture and equipment 1,235,393 980,145 255,248
Computer software 1,848,759 1,759,221 89,538
Office equipment 1,510,986 1,046,900 464,086
Trade show equipment 88,357 88,063 294
Leasehold improvements 528,693 405,859 122,834

 $  10,149,711 $  8,308,887 $  1,840,824
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 
 

The following table summarizes property and equipment activity for the year ended June 30, 
2012: 

 
 

 Year ended June 30, 2012 
 Carrying 

amount - 
opening Additions Amortization 

Carrying 
amount – 

ending 
     
Computer equipment $   908,824 $    723,493      $  629,254  $   1,003,063 
Furniture and equipment 255,248 - 111,333 143,915 
Computer software 89,538 210,558 194,873 105,223 
Office equipment 464,086 32,747 264,929 231,904 
Trade show equipment 294 - 294 - 
Leasehold improvements 122,834 23,567 69,011 77,390 

 $  1,840,824 $ 990,365 $ 1,269,694 $  1,561,495 
 
The following table summarizes property and equipment activity for the year ended June 30, 
2011: 

 
 

 Year ended June 30, 2011 
 Carrying 

amount – 
opening Additions Amortization 

Carrying 
amount – 

ending 
     
Computer equipment $ 1,288,888     $   592,407   $ 972,471   $   908,824 
Furniture and equipment 362,663 7,616 115,031 255,248 
Computer software 62,905 160,971 134,338 89,538 
Office equipment 506,611 332,791 375,316 464,086 
Trade show equipment 6,333 - 6,039 294 
Leasehold improvements 189,605 - 66,771 122,834 

 $ 2,417,005  $1,093,785  $ 1,669,966 $  1,840,824 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 June 30, 2012 
 

Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Carrying 
amount 

    
Software – LANrev $  14,510,255 $  7,595,601 $   6,914,654 
Contract costs 16,883,967 8,243,232 8,640,735 
Customer relationships – LANrev 465,538 231,980 233,558 
Software – FailSafe/Freeze 7,058,432 5,288,334 1,770,098 
Patents and other 696,643 115,370 581,273 
Brand rights – LoJack 816,233 699,679 116,554 

 $  40,431,068 $  22,174,196 $  18,256,872 
 
 

 June 30, 2011 
 

Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Carrying 
amount 

    
Software – LANrev $  14,510,255 $  4,731,300 $   9,778,955 
Contract costs 14,740,759 6,912,969 7,827,790 
Customer relationships – LANrev 465,538 135,335 330,203 
Software – FailSafe/Freeze 7,058,432 2,937,963 4,120,469 
Patents and other 159,487 27,080 132,407 
Brand rights – LoJack 839,899 705,980 133,919 

 $  37,774,370 $  15,450,627 $ 22,323,743 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 
 

The following tables summarize intangible asset activity for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011: 

 
 Year ended June 30, 2012 
 Carrying 

amount - 
opening Additions Amortization 

Carrying 
amount - 

ending 
     

Software – LANrev $     9,778,955 $            - $     2,864,301 $   6,914,654 
Contract costs 7,827,790 6,289,704 5,476,759 8,640,735 
Customer relationships – LANrev 330,203 - 96,645 233,558 
Software – FailSafe/Freeze 4,120,469 - 2,350,371 1,770,098 
Patents and other 132,407 507,718 58,852 581,273 
Brand rights – LoJack 133,919 124,552 141,917 116,554 

 $  22,323,743 $  6,921,974 $  10,988,845 $  18,256,872 
 

 
 Year ended June 30, 2011 
 Carrying 

amount - 
opening Additions Amortization 

Carrying 
amount – 

ending 
     

Software – LANrev $  12,653,031 $            - $ 2,874,076  $   9,778,955 
Contract costs 7,047,348 5,826,484 5,046,042 7,827,790 
Customer relationships – LANrev 426,849 - 96,646 330,203 
Software – FailSafe/Freeze 6,470,840 - 2,350,371 4,120,469 
Patents and other - 159,488 27,081 132,407 
Brand rights – LoJack warrants 152,484 159,666 178,231 133,919 

 $  26,750,552 $  6,145,638 $ 10,572,447  $  22,323,743 
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7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

The Company’s trade and other payables are comprised of the following: 
 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 
   
Trade payables $     2,361,355 $   2,748,826 
Payroll and employee benefits 3,378,578 4,025,597 
Accrued liabilities 943,507 1,269,459 
Sales taxes payable 173,232 454,803 
Lease inducements 160,249 270,201 
 $    7,016,921 $    8,768,886 
 

 
8. ACQUISITION PAYABLE 
 

The Company’s Acquisition Payable relates to deferred consideration payable pursuant to an 
historical business combination.  The acquisition payable was comprised of $2,500,000 in cash 
and 500,000 common shares, payable in three equal annual instalments on the anniversary of 
the acquisition date. Of the total amount, the final payment of cash and 166,667 common 
shares is outstanding at June 30, 2012, and is due on December 2, 2012: 
 

Amount payable in cash   $       833,333 
Amount payable in common shares 827,434 
 1,660,767 
Amount representing interest at 1.4% (2,818) 
 $   1,657,949 

 
 
9. ACCRUED WARRANTY 
 

The following table summarizes changes in the accrued warranty for the years ended June 30, 
2012 and 2011: 

 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
   
Balance, beginning of year $     880,000 $    1,020,000 
Warranty accrual 1,731,982 2,039,063 
Guarantee payments (2,021,982) (2,179,063) 
Balance, end of year $     590,000 $    880,000 
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10. DEFERRED REVENUE  
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of deferred revenue balances on sales contracts to 
invoiced sales contracts, revenue, and other adjustments: 

 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
   
Balance, beginning of year $    111,178,837 $    100,187,887 
Sales contracts 88,703,325 79,067,374 
Revenue recognized (74,564,704) (67,986,371) 
Other adjustments (105,760) (90,053) 
Balance, end of year 125,211,698 111,178,837 
Less:  current portion (63,173,264) (55,923,312) 
 $     62,038,434 $     55,255,525 
 

 
11. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
(a) Authorized 

 
100,000,000 common shares, no par value 
20,000,000 preferred shares, Series A, voting, convertible, redeemable, no par value 

 
(b) Issued and outstanding 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company issued 739,037 common shares on exercise 
of employee stock options for total proceeds of $2,554,637.  An amount of $1,158,795 related 
to the original fair value of the options was transferred from equity reserve to common shares 
upon exercise. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company issued 175,102 common shares pursuant to 
its employee share purchase plan for total proceeds of $597,531. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company issued 166,666 common shares pursuant to 
a previous acquisition.  The fair value of these common shares, measured at the date of the 
acquisition, was $827,434. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company issued 296,775 common shares on exercise 
of employee stock options for total proceeds of $470,354.  An amount of $226,379 related to 
the original fair value of the options was transferred from equity reserve to common shares 
upon exercise. 
 

ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company issued 184,457 common shares pursuant to 
its employee share purchase plan for total proceeds of $607,896. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company issued 166,666 common shares pursuant to 
a previous acquisition.  The fair value of these common shares, measured at the date of the 
acquisition, was $869,968. 
 
On December 23, 2011, the Company received approval from the TSX for a Normal Course 
Issuer Bid that enables the Company to purchase and cancel up to 3,067,322 of its common 
shares. The Bid allows for the purchase on a daily basis of up to 7,647 common shares until 
December 22, 2012, except where purchases are made in accordance with "block purchase" 
exemptions under applicable TSX policies.  Prior to December 23, 2011, the Company purchased 
and cancelled shares under a previously approved Normal Course Issuer Bid (together, the 
“Bids”). 
 
Under the Bids, in the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company repurchased 1,003,500 common 
shares for a total cost of $4,112,067.  On repurchase of the common shares, the difference 
between the purchase price and the average book value of the common shares was recorded in 
deficit, amounting to $2,958,616. 
 
Under the Bids, in the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company repurchased 3,797,020 common 
shares for a total cost of $14,099,989.  On repurchase of the common shares, the difference 
between the purchase price and the average book value of the common shares is recorded in 
deficit, amounting $12,259,333. 
 
(c)  Stock Option Plan 

 
The Company’s share-based compensation plans include an Employee Stock Option Plan 
(“Option Plan”).   
 
In 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Option Plan (as amended in 2007 and 
2009), which provided for a maximum of 12% of the number of common shares outstanding to 
be allocated to Option Plan participants. On this basis, at June 30, 2012, the maximum number 
of common shares available under the Option Plan was 5,250,936 (June 30, 2011 - 5,241,660), of 
which 851,547 remained available for grant thereunder.  
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company issued 184,457 common shares pursuant to 
its employee share purchase plan for total proceeds of $607,896. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company issued 166,666 common shares pursuant to 
a previous acquisition.  The fair value of these common shares, measured at the date of the 
acquisition, was $869,968. 
 
On December 23, 2011, the Company received approval from the TSX for a Normal Course 
Issuer Bid that enables the Company to purchase and cancel up to 3,067,322 of its common 
shares. The Bid allows for the purchase on a daily basis of up to 7,647 common shares until 
December 22, 2012, except where purchases are made in accordance with "block purchase" 
exemptions under applicable TSX policies.  Prior to December 23, 2011, the Company purchased 
and cancelled shares under a previously approved Normal Course Issuer Bid (together, the 
“Bids”). 
 
Under the Bids, in the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company repurchased 1,003,500 common 
shares for a total cost of $4,112,067.  On repurchase of the common shares, the difference 
between the purchase price and the average book value of the common shares was recorded in 
deficit, amounting to $2,958,616. 
 
Under the Bids, in the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company repurchased 3,797,020 common 
shares for a total cost of $14,099,989.  On repurchase of the common shares, the difference 
between the purchase price and the average book value of the common shares is recorded in 
deficit, amounting $12,259,333. 
 
(c)  Stock Option Plan 

 
The Company’s share-based compensation plans include an Employee Stock Option Plan 
(“Option Plan”).   
 
In 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Option Plan (as amended in 2007 and 
2009), which provided for a maximum of 12% of the number of common shares outstanding to 
be allocated to Option Plan participants. On this basis, at June 30, 2012, the maximum number 
of common shares available under the Option Plan was 5,250,936 (June 30, 2011 - 5,241,660), of 
which 851,547 remained available for grant thereunder.  
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
Terms and conditions of options granted under the Option Plan are determined solely by the 
Board of Directors.  Under the Option Plan, the exercise price of each option equals the last 
closing market price of the Company’s common shares before the grant date. The term of 
option grants may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the option. Generally, options 
are granted with a four year vesting period (25% vesting on each anniversary date), with each 
tranche expiring two years after each vesting date. 

 
The following table summarizes activity under the Option Plan for the years ended June 30, 
2012 and 2011: 
 

 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
 

Number 
of options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(CAD) 

 

Number 
of options 

Weighted 
average  

exercise price 
(CAD) 

     
Outstanding, beginning of year 4,725,951 $      4.55 4,707,925 $      4.87 
Granted 952,000 5.22 1,249,300 3.85 
Exercised (739,037) 3.48 (296,775) 1.56 
Forfeited (231,450) 4.98 (563,088) 5.25 
Expired (308,075) 6.79 (371,411) 7.54 
Outstanding, end of year 4,399,389 $      4.70  4,725,951 $      4.55 
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options issued and exercisable at June 
30, 2012: 

 
 Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable 

Range of 
exercise 

prices 
Number 

of options 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average  

exercise price 
      
$1.53 -   $2.28 21,250 0.2 $    1.66 21,250 $      1.66 
$2.95 -   $4.28 1,981,563 2.5 3.86 811,424 3.86 
$4.48 -   $5.22 1,973,000 3.2 4.81 501,375 4.49 
$5.30 -   $6.31 238,950 2.3 5.64 98,850 5.58 
$8.01 - $13.42 184,626 0.9 11.67 178,126 11.69 
 4,399,389 2.7 $    4.70  1,611,025 $      5.00 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 

Fair values – Option Plan 
 
The total fair value of options granted under the Option Plan in the year ended June 30, 2012 
was $2,039,176 (year ended June 30, 2011 - $2,394,528).  The weighted average grant date fair 
value of options granted during the year ended June 30, 2012 was $2.14 (year ended June 30, 
2011 - $1.92).  
 
The estimated fair value of each option granted under the Option Plan was estimated on the 
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average 
assumptions: 

 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
   

Risk-free interest rate 0.6% 1.2% 
Dividend yield  0%  0% 
Expected life (in years) 3.7 3.6 
Volatility 55% 69% 

   
 

(d) Non-standard Options 
 
On December 15, 2010, the Company’s shareholders ratified the grant of an additional 500,000 
stock options (the “Non-standard Options”) outside of the Option Plan, pursuant to the 
employment agreements of the selling shareholders of LANrev.  The Non-standard Options were 
granted effective December 2, 2009, with an exercise price of $5.15, and vest in equal 
instalments over a three year period beginning on that date.  Each tranche expires two years 
after each vesting date. 
 
The total fair value of the Non-standard Options was $1,252,393, with a weighted average grant 
date fair value of $2.50.  This fair value was measured at the date the employment agreements 
were entered into, as the terms and conditions of the grants were known at that time. The 
estimated fair value of the Non-standard Options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model assuming no dividend yield, an expected life of three years, volatility of 78%, and 
a risk-free interest rate of 0.5%.  At June 30, 2012, 333,333 Non-standard Options had vested 
and remained outstanding, and none had been exercised or forfeited. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 

Fair values – Option Plan 
 
The total fair value of options granted under the Option Plan in the year ended June 30, 2012 
was $2,039,176 (year ended June 30, 2011 - $2,394,528).  The weighted average grant date fair 
value of options granted during the year ended June 30, 2012 was $2.14 (year ended June 30, 
2011 - $1.92).  
 
The estimated fair value of each option granted under the Option Plan was estimated on the 
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average 
assumptions: 

 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
   

Risk-free interest rate 0.6% 1.2% 
Dividend yield  0%  0% 
Expected life (in years) 3.7 3.6 
Volatility 55% 69% 

   
 

(d) Non-standard Options 
 
On December 15, 2010, the Company’s shareholders ratified the grant of an additional 500,000 
stock options (the “Non-standard Options”) outside of the Option Plan, pursuant to the 
employment agreements of the selling shareholders of LANrev.  The Non-standard Options were 
granted effective December 2, 2009, with an exercise price of $5.15, and vest in equal 
instalments over a three year period beginning on that date.  Each tranche expires two years 
after each vesting date. 
 
The total fair value of the Non-standard Options was $1,252,393, with a weighted average grant 
date fair value of $2.50.  This fair value was measured at the date the employment agreements 
were entered into, as the terms and conditions of the grants were known at that time. The 
estimated fair value of the Non-standard Options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model assuming no dividend yield, an expected life of three years, volatility of 78%, and 
a risk-free interest rate of 0.5%.  At June 30, 2012, 333,333 Non-standard Options had vested 
and remained outstanding, and none had been exercised or forfeited. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
(e) Employee Share Purchase Plan 

 
The Company’s share-based compensation plans also include an Employee Share Purchase Plan 
(“Purchase Plan”).   
 
The Purchase Plan allows employees to purchase up to 2,000,000 common shares from treasury 
at a 15% discount from the market price. Each employee may allocate a maximum of $10,500 
per year to the purchase of common shares through two six month offering periods per year. 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, 175,102 common shares (2011 – 184,987common shares) 
were issued from treasury under the Purchase Plan at a weighted average price of $3.41 (2011 - 
$3.29) per share.  
 
At June 30, 2012, 924,732 common shares remained available for grant under the Purchase 
Plan. 
 
(f) Share-based compensation 
 
The Company’s share-based compensation for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was 
comprised as follows: 
 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
 

Stock option plan $  2,079,573 $  2,559,879 
Non-standard Options 290,119 874,628 
Employee share purchase plan 108,486 109,701 

 $  2,478,178 $  3,544,208 
 
The following table summarizes the allocation of share-based compensation for the years ended 
June 30, 2012 and 2011: 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
 

Cost of revenue $     306,419 $     401,987 
Sales and marketing 1,126,747 1,645,291 
Research and development 558,438 1,063,529 
General and administration 486,574 433,401 

 $  2,478,178 $  3,544,208 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
(e) Employee Share Purchase Plan 

 
The Company’s share-based compensation plans also include an Employee Share Purchase Plan 
(“Purchase Plan”).   
 
The Purchase Plan allows employees to purchase up to 2,000,000 common shares from treasury 
at a 15% discount from the market price. Each employee may allocate a maximum of $10,500 
per year to the purchase of common shares through two six month offering periods per year. 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, 175,102 common shares (2011 – 184,987common shares) 
were issued from treasury under the Purchase Plan at a weighted average price of $3.41 (2011 - 
$3.29) per share.  
 
At June 30, 2012, 924,732 common shares remained available for grant under the Purchase 
Plan. 
 
(f) Share-based compensation 
 
The Company’s share-based compensation for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was 
comprised as follows: 
 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
 

Stock option plan $  2,079,573 $  2,559,879 
Non-standard Options 290,119 874,628 
Employee share purchase plan 108,486 109,701 

 $  2,478,178 $  3,544,208 
 
The following table summarizes the allocation of share-based compensation for the years ended 
June 30, 2012 and 2011: 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
 

Cost of revenue $     306,419 $     401,987 
Sales and marketing 1,126,747 1,645,291 
Research and development 558,438 1,063,529 
General and administration 486,574 433,401 

 $  2,478,178 $  3,544,208 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 

(g) Diluted number of common shares outstanding and potentially dilutive securities 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2012, the basic and diluted weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding was the same.  For the year ended June 30, 2011, the diluted weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding was 45,496,098, the entire difference 
attributable to outstanding share purchase options. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2012, 938,609 share purchase options (2011 – nil) were excluded 
from diluted loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
 

12. INCOME TAXES 
 
Income tax expense (recovery) for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 differ from that 
calculated by applying statutory rates for the following reasons: 

 Year ended June 30, 
 2012  2011 
   
Income before income taxes $   1,953,363 $   1,177,491 
Combined Federal and Provincial income tax rate                25.75%                27.50% 
Tax expense at statutory rate 502,991 323,810 
Permanent differences 1,069,497 198,968 
Foreign income (losses) tax effected at higher rates 240,047 (660,886) 
Impact on deferred income tax assets of changes in 

foreign exchange rates 137,126 (1,203,485) 
Changes in statutory tax rates 50,674 66,681 
Losses and temporary differences for which no deferred 

tax asset has been recognized 1,013,556 653,984 
Previously recognized deferred tax assets de-recognized 211,568 - 
Amounts under (over) provided for in prior years 143,789   (347,884) 
Total income tax expense (recovery) $      3,369,249 $     (968,812) 
Comprised of:   

Current income tax expense $    2,372,000 $    1,636,043 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 997,249 (2,604,855) 

 $      3,369,249 $      (968,812) 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company recorded a net current income tax payable of 
$nil (2011 - $nil), comprised of a provision for income tax expense of $2.4 million (2011 - $1.6 
million) offset by a $2.4 million recovery (2011 - $1.6 million) for Canadian Investment Tax 
Credits (“ITCs”).  The ITCs were credited against operating expenses, as the credit is generated by 
certain eligible scientific research and development expenditures (“SRED”).   
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 

In addition, the Company recorded an additional $0.8 million (2011 - $1.6 million) reduction in 
current taxes payable and recovery of ITCs related to historical SRED claims upon their 
assessment by CRA during the year. 

The tax effect of the significant temporary differences and loss carryforwards that comprise 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities at June 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 
 
 June 30, 2012  June 30, 2011 
   
Deferred income tax assets:   

Property and equipment $          26,439 $          320,411 
Deferred revenue 19,579,932 17,514,572 
Operating loss carryforwards 1,702,630 3,661,295 
Other 501,897 794,997 
  21,810,898  22,291,275 

Deferred income tax liabilities:   
Intangible assets (1,659,343) (1,060,047) 
Tax credits (303,334) (385,759) 
  (1,962,677)  (1,445,806) 

 $    19,848,221 $    20,845,469   
 
At June 30, 2012, the Company’s deferred tax liabilities are related to its Canadian operations 
and are substantially offset by related tax assets in Canada.  As a result, the net tax assets are 
wholly attributable to the Company’s U.S. operations.  At June 30, 2011, $688,091 of the net tax 
assets were related to the Company’s Canadian operations, with the balance relating to its U.S. 
operations. 

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future 
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible and 
during the loss carryforward periods. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making 
this assessment.  The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could change 
materially in the near term based on future taxable income during the carryforward period. The 
Company has estimated operating tax loss carryforwards of $18,731,735, of which $5,877,221 
expire between 2027 and 2032, with the balance carrying forward indefinitely.  Of this amount, 
12,854,504 are not recognized as deferred tax assets.  In addition, the Company has $211,567 in 
capital loss carryforwards which do not have an expiry date, and which are not recognized as tax 
assets. 

The Company’s operations are conducted in a number of countries with complex tax legislation 
and regulations pertaining to the Company’s activities.  Any reassessment of the Company’s tax 
filings by the tax authorities may result in material adjustments to net income or loss, tax assets 
and operating loss carry-forwards. 
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13. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
 Composition of cash and cash equivalents 
 

 June 30, 2012  June 30, 2011 
   
Cash $    29,216,568 $    29,629,071 
Cash equivalents 16,195,579 237,670 
 $    45,412,147 $    29,866,741 
 

 Other cash flow information 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
Non-cash investing and financing activities 

Accrued purchases of property and equipment $    61,326  $   17,520  
Common shares issued for 

Acquisition Payable    827,434 869,968 
 
 
14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Overview 
 

The Company is exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability 
to achieve its strategic objectives for growth.  The main objectives of the Company’s risk 
management process are to ensure that risks are properly identified and that the capital base is 
adequate in relation to those risks.  The principal financial risks to which the Company is 
exposed have not changed from the year ended June 30, 2011, with the exception of foreign 
currency risk as outlined below. 
 
(b) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as fluctuations in the market prices of 
the Company’s publicly traded investments, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates, will 
affect the Company’s income or the value of its financial instruments.  The Company does not 
engage in risk management practices such as hedging, derivatives or short selling with respect to 
its investments. 
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13. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
 Composition of cash and cash equivalents 
 

 June 30, 2012  June 30, 2011 
   
Cash $    29,216,568 $    29,629,071 
Cash equivalents 16,195,579 237,670 
 $    45,412,147 $    29,866,741 
 

 Other cash flow information 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
Non-cash investing and financing activities 

Accrued purchases of property and equipment $    61,326  $   17,520  
Common shares issued for 

Acquisition Payable    827,434 869,968 
 
 
14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Overview 
 

The Company is exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability 
to achieve its strategic objectives for growth.  The main objectives of the Company’s risk 
management process are to ensure that risks are properly identified and that the capital base is 
adequate in relation to those risks.  The principal financial risks to which the Company is 
exposed have not changed from the year ended June 30, 2011, with the exception of foreign 
currency risk as outlined below. 
 
(b) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as fluctuations in the market prices of 
the Company’s publicly traded investments, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates, will 
affect the Company’s income or the value of its financial instruments.  The Company does not 
engage in risk management practices such as hedging, derivatives or short selling with respect to 
its investments. 
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14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
The Company operates internationally, primarily in the United States, giving rise to exposure to 
market risks from foreign exchange rates.  The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar. 
However, the Company maintains net Canadian dollar asset positions, and therefore records 
gains in periods of rising Canadian dollar exchange rates and losses in periods of declining rates. 
Canadian dollar operating costs are converted at current exchange rates, while revenue is 
recorded at historic rates from when the sales contracts were recorded into deferred revenue, 
and therefore the Company’s operating loss increases in periods when the Canadian dollar 
appreciates. 
 
Foreign Currency Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The Company typically does not enter foreign currency hedges.  Further appreciation in the 
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could impact the Company’s ability to continue at 
current operating margins as a significant amount of operating costs are denominated in 
Canadian dollars.  
 
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the Canadian dollar, through Canadian dollar working 
capital balances and operating expenses.  The Company’s sensitivity to a 1% strengthening of 
the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar is an approximate decrease of $350,000 in annual 
operating income and a $215,000 increase in net loss. For a 1% weakening of the Canadian 
dollar against the U.S. dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact on operating income 
and net loss.   
 
(c) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due or can do so only at excessive cost.  The Company mitigates liquidity risk by holding 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its financial obligations.  The Company’s growth is 
financed through cash on hand and cash flows from operations.  The majority of the Company’s 
financial liabilities recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due within 60 days.  

 
Given the Company’s available liquid resources as compared to the timing of the payments of 
liabilities, management assesses the Company’s liquidity risk to be low. 
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14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  

(d) Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk represents the financial loss that the Company would experience if a counterparty to 
a financial instrument, in which the Company has an amount owing from the counterparty, 
failed to meet its obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of its contracts with 
the Company.  The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets represents the Company’s 
maximum credit exposure. 

 
The Company manages credit risk related to accounts receivable by carrying out credit 
investigations for new customers and partners, and by maintaining reserves for potential credit 
losses.  The majority of the accounts receivable balance is due from well-capitalized computer 
manufacturers who have a history of paying on a timely basis.  Accounts receivable are net of 
allowance for doubtful accounts of $915,000 (June 30, 2011 - $1.5 million). 
  
At June 30, 2012, 23% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance is over 90 days past due 
(June 30, 2011 – 20%).  As at June 30, 2012, 34%, 16%, 11%, and 10% (June 30, 2011 - 27%, 16%, 
4%, and 10%) of the receivable balances are owing from four OEM and reseller partners.   

 
The Company manages credit risk related to cash, cash equivalents, and investments by 
maintaining bank and investment accounts with high credit quality financial institutions, 
including Schedule 1 banks. 
 
(e) Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, short term investments, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and accrued warranty approximate their fair values due 
to the immediate or short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying value of investments 
carried at amortized cost approximates their fair value as the interest rate environment has not 
changed significantly from the date of purchase.  The carrying value of acquisition payable 
approximates its fair value as the cash portion of the liability is discounted to present value at an 
interest rate that approximates market.   
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15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 
The Company carries on business in the computer security monitoring and endpoint 
management industry and all sales are made in this segment. Geographic revenue information is 
based on the location of the customer invoiced. Long-lived assets include property and 
equipment and intangible assets. 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
Revenue   
       United States $  65,476,889 $  61,255,007 
       Rest of world 6,356,504 4,818,947 
       Canada 2,731,311 1,912,417 
 $  74,564,704 $  67,986,371 
 
 
 June 30, 2012  June 30, 2011 
Long-lived assets   
       Canada $    12,520,409 $    17,086,560 
       United States and rest of world 7,297,958 7,078,007 
 $     19,818,367 $     24,164,567 

 
16. COMMITMENTS 

 
The Company’s minimum payments required under operating leases for premises, equipment 
and business service agreements, and a branding agreement (note 8) are as follows as at June 
30, 2012: 
 

2013   $      1,985,836 
2014 1,786,585 
2015 1,631,054 
2016 1,363,533 
2017 and thereafter 3,300,927 
 $   10,067,935 

 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Key management personnel compensation 
 Year ended June 30, 
 2012 2011 
Salaries, bonus, and short-term employment benefits $  1,663,855 $  1,248,229 
Share-based compensation 301,545 377,100 
 $  1,965,400 $  1,625,329 
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18. CONTINGENCIES 
  

Due to the nature of its patent portfolio, from time to time the Company is involved in 
assertions and claims of patent infringement as both the initiating party and, from time to time, 
as a respondent to such claims.  The Company was party to the following patent-related matter 
during the current year: 
 
Absolute Software Corporation and Absolute Software, Inc. v. Stealth Signal, Inc., and Computer 
Security Products, Inc. (“Stealth”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Texas, Case No. H-05-1416. In May 2012, the claim of patent infringement made against Stealth 
by the Company was settled in the Company’s favour by way of a settlement and stipulated 
judgment. Stealth Signal satisfied the judgment by granting Absolute an option to acquire all of 
the assets of Stealth at no additional cost.  Stealth also agreed to begin the steps to dissolve the 
company within 60 days. The monetary damages in the final judgment have not been recorded 
as an asset as the Company believes Stealth has no material assets. Accompanying the monetary 
damages was an injunction permanently restraining and enjoining Stealth from making, using, 
offering to sell, selling or importing into the United States products infringing the Company’s 
patents.  
 
In order to establish and defend its proprietary rights and patent portfolio, the Company is also 
the initiating party in two other patent-related matters.  The Company’s management believes it 
will prevail in these cases, however, the potential outcome, timing, and impact on the 
Company’s business and patent portfolio is not determinable at this time. 
 
In addition, due to the nature of the Company’s business and products, the Company is involved 
in other legal matters which arise from time to time in the ordinary course of the Company’s 
business.  The Company believes that any such claims currently existing are without merit and 
intends to vigorously defend any such assertions.  At this time, there are no legal matters of this 
type which are believed to be material to the Company’s financial performance, liquidity, or 
financial condition. 
 

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On July 27, 2012, 77,610 common shares were issued pursuant to the Purchase Plan. 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS 
 
Overview  
 
The effect of the Company’s transition to IFRS, as described in note 2, is summarized as follows: 
(a) transition elections; (b) reconciliation of equity and comprehensive income (loss) as 
previously reported under Canadian GAAP to IFRS; and (c) explanatory notes. 
 
Transition elections  
 
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”), which provides guidance for an entity’s initial 
adoption of IFRS. IFRS 1 generally requires retrospective application of IFRS effective at the end 
of the Company’s first annual IFRS reporting period. However, IFRS 1 also provides certain 
optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this retrospective treatment.  
 
Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates previously made under Canadian GAAP, 
except where necessary to reflect any difference in accounting policies. 
 
The Company has applied the mandatory exception and the following transitional exemptions to 
full retrospective application of IFRS in its preparation of an opening IFRS consolidated 
statement of financial position at July 1, 2010 (the Company’s “Transition Date”): 
 

i) To apply IFRS 2, “Share-based Payments”, retrospectively only to awards that were 
issued after November 7, 2002 and where any portion of said awards had not vested by 
the Transition Date;  

ii) To reclassify certain of the Company’s financial instruments (investments in interest-
bearing securities) as available for sale financial assets as opposed to held-to-maturity 
financial assets on the Transition Date; and 

iii) To apply IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”, prospectively from the Transition Date and, 
therefore, not restate business combinations that took place prior to the Transition 
Date. As such, Canadian GAAP balances relating to business combinations entered into 
before the Transition Date, including acquired intangible assets, have been carried 
forward without adjustment. 

 

The Company’s Transition Date IFRS consolidated statement of financial position is included as 
comparative information in the consolidated statements of financial position in these 
consolidated financial statements. 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  
 
Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position as at July 1, 2010 

 
 

Notes 
Canadian 

GAAP - CAD 

IFRS 
Adjustments and 
Reclassifications IFRS - USD 

ASSETS  
  CURRENT  

Cash and cash equivalents (d) $  28,078,851 $      (1,703,803) $   26,375,048 
Short-term investments (d) 6,420,210 (389,601) 6,030,609 
Trade and other receivables (d) 13,888,239 (836,867) 13,051,372 
Prepaid expenses and other (d) 1,149,428 (69,556) 1,079,872 
Deferred contract costs - current (b)(d) 4,038,159 (4,038,159) - 
Deferred (future) income tax assets - 

current (d)(e) 9,904,709 (9,904,709) - 
   63,479,596 (16,942,695)  46,536,901 
INVESTMENTS (d) 23,527,677 (1,428,130) 22,099,547 
DEFERRED CONTRACT COSTS (b)(d) 3,744,051 (3,744,051) - 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (d) 2,754,271 (337,266) 2,417,005 
DEFERRED (FUTURE) INCOME TAX 

ASSETS (d)(e) 10,308,983 7,931,832 18,240,815 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (b)(d) 20,477,801 6,272,751 26,750,552 
  $ 124,292,379 $      (8,247,559) $ 116,044,820 

     
LIABILITIES     
     CURRENT     

Trade and other payables (d) $   8,183,219 $          (495,012) $   7,688,207 
Income tax payable (d) 1,575,000 (95,602) 1,479,398 
Acquisition payable – current (d) 1,728,607 (104,926) 1,623,681 
Accrued warranty – current (a)(d) 4,702,888 (3,682,888) 1,020,000 
Deferred revenue – current  (a)(d) 52,411,595 (904,397) 51,507,198 

  68,601,309 (5,282,825) 63,318,484 
ACQUISITION PAYABLE (d) 3,457,214 (178,392) 3,278,822 
ACCRUED WARRANTY (a)(d) 4,518,461 (4,518,461) - 
DEFERRED REVENUE (a)(d) 50,346,988 (1,666,299) 48,680,689 
  126,923,972 (11,645,977) 115,277,995 

     SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY     
Share Capital (d) 44,888,407 (10,581,831) 34,306,576 
Equity reserve (c)(d) 28,393,491 2,720,482 31,113,973 
Deficit  (75,913,491) 11,259,767 (64,653,724) 

  (2,631,593) 3,398,418 766,825 

  $  124,292,379 $       (8,247,559) $  116,044,820 



92  |  Absolute Software • 2012 Annual Report

ABSOLUTE SOFTWARE CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 
(Expressed in United States dollars) 
 

 

20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  
 
Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position as at June 30, 2011 

 
 

Notes 
Canadian 

GAAP - CAD 

IFRS 
Adjustments and 
Reclassifications IFRS - USD 

ASSETS  
  CURRENT  

Cash and cash equivalents (d) $  28,805,213 $         1,061,528 $  29,866,741 
Short-term investments (d) 6,717,387 247,202 6,964,589 
Trade and other receivables (d) 15,599,349 574,777 16,174,126 
Prepaid expenses and other (d) 1,541,225 56,790 1,598,015 
Deferred contract costs - current (b)(d) 4,392,364 (4,392,364) - 
Deferred (future) income tax assets - 

current (d)(e) 9,973,479 (9,973,479) - 
  67,029,017 (12,425,546)  54,603,471 
INVESTMENTS (d) 18,234,407 671,026 18,905,433 
DEFERRED CONTRACT COSTS (b)(d) 3,840,284 (3,840,284) - 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (d) 2,114,704 (273,880) 1,840,824 
DEFERRED (FUTURE) INCOME TAX 

ASSETS (d)(e) 10,387,213 10,458,256 20,845,469 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (b)(d) 15,061,026 7,262,717 22,323,743 
  $116,666,651  $ 1,852,289 $ 118,518,940 

     
LIABILITIES     
     CURRENT     

Trade and other payables (d) $   8,456,941 $         311,945 $   8,768,886 
Acquisition payable – current (d) 1,666,916 95,695 1,762,611 
Accrued warranty – current (d) 4,457,446 (3,577,446) 880,000 
Deferred revenue – current  (a)(d) 55,355,122 568,190 55,923,312 

 (a)(d) 69,936,425 (2,601,616) 67,334,809 

ACQUISITION PAYABLE  1,677,698 (54,657) 1,623,041 
ACCRUED WARRANTY (d) 4,282,644 (4,282,644) - 
DEFERRED REVENUE (a)(d) 53,995,248 1,260,277 55,255,525 

 (a)(d) 129,892,015 (5,678,640) 124,213,375 

     SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY     
Share Capital  45,245,075 (10,604,558) 34,640,517 
Equity reserve (d) 30,925,971 3,505,831 34,431,802 
Deficit  (89,396,410) 14,629,656 (74,766,754) 

  (13,225,364) 7,530,929 (5,694,435) 

  $116,666,651 $   1,852,289 $  118,518,940 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  
 
Reconciliation of Statement of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the year ended June 30, 
2011 

 
 

Notes 
Canadian 

GAAP - CAD 

IFRS 
Adjustments 

and 
Reclassifications IFRS - USD 

     
REVENUE (d) $  72,198,733 $  (4,212,362) $  67,986,371 
     COST OF REVENUE (a)(d) 18,891,474 389,164 19,280,638 
     GROSS MARGIN  53,307,259 (4,601,526) 48,705,733 
     
OPERATING EXPENSES     

Sales and marketing (d) 33,044,846 (781,452) 32,263,394 
Research and development (d) 11,641,015 (17,540) 11,623,475 
General and administration (d) 7,980,932 (108,031) 7,872,901 
Investment tax credits (d) (3,208,000) (26,728) (3,234,728) 
Share-based compensation (c)(d) 2,783,899 760,309 3,544,208 

  52,242,692 (173,442) 52,069,250 
     OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)  1,064,567 (4,428,084) (3,363,517) 
     
OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME     

Interest income, net (d) 742,573 822 743,395 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain  (d) (1,756,078) 5,270,337 3,514,259 
Gain on investments (d) 287,499 (4,145) 283,354 

  (726,006) 5,267,014 4,541,008 
     NET INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES  338,561 838,930 1,177,491 
     
INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) RECOVERY (d) (1,486,000) 2,454,812 968,812 
     NET (LOSS) INCOME AND TOTAL 

COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 
 

$   (1,147,439) $   3,293,742 $     2,146,303 
     
BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) INCOME 

PER SHARE 
 

$        (0.03)           $  0.05 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  
 
Explanatory notes  

Concurrent with the adoption of IFRS, the Company elected to present its consolidated financial 
statements in U.S. dollars.  The IFRS adjustments and reclassifications column includes the 
aggregate impact of the change in functional currency (see part (d) below) and the change in 
presentation currency, in addition to all other changes in accounting policies as a result of IFRS 
adoption.  Where significant, the separate impact of these elements has been quantified in 
these explanatory notes to the above reconciliations. 

(a) Warranty liability.  Under Canadian GAAP, the Company estimated its warranty liability at 
the time services were sold, based on computer theft and recovery rates and historical payout 
ratios, in advance of delivery of the Company’s services.  As the warranty liabilities estimated 
using this method related to periods greater than one fiscal year, the liabilities were split 
between current and long-term.  In addition, costs associated with the warranty estimates were 
deferred and amortized over the same period as the associated sales contracts.  Unamortized 
warranty costs were included as a reduction of deferred revenue on the statement of financial 
position. 

Under IFRS, the Company estimates its warranty liability based on computer thefts: a) reported 
to the Company at each reporting date; and b) which are unreported to the Company, but are 
estimated based on the number of thefts which have occurred but have not yet been reported, 
based on historical theft reporting timeframes.  The Company then uses historical recovery rates 
and payout ratios to estimate the warranty liability.  As the warranty liability relates only to 
computer thefts occurring in the past which are typically paid out in less than 180 days, the 
liability is carried as a current liability.  Costs associated with the warranty are recognized in the 
current period statement of operations.  As a result of this change in policy, on the Transition 
Date, the Company recognized the effect of these changes which decreased total liabilities by 
$3,977,095 (comprised of a $7,641,798 decrease in accrued warranty, and a $3,664,703 increase 
in deferred revenue), with a corresponding offset to deficit, which decreased total shareholders’ 
deficiency by that amount. Under IFRS, as compared to Canadian GAAP, cost of goods sold for 
the year ended June 30, 2011 increased by $414,162. 

(b) Intangible assets.  Under Canadian GAAP, the Company deferred and amortized deferred 
contract costs, consisting of deferred sales commissions and brand royalties.  These costs were 
split into their current and long-term portions on the statement of financial position as deferred 
contract costs.  Under IFRS, these costs continue to be deferred; however, they are now 
presented as a portion of intangible assets.  On the Transition Date, $3,793,123 was reclassified 
from current deferred contract costs and $3,516,862 was reclassified from long-term deferred 
contract costs to intangible assets.  Also on the Transition Date, an amount of $205,359 was 
adjusted as a result of the change in the Company’s functional currency to the U.S. dollar.  
Amortization of those assets remained the same under IFRS as it was under Canadian GAAP. 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  

(c) Share-based compensation. Under Canadian GAAP, each stock option grant was treated as a 
single arrangement and compensation expense was determined at the time of grant and 
amortized over the vesting period, generally 48 months, on a straight-line basis. IFRS requires a 
separate calculation of compensation expense for awards that vest in instalments. Under 
Canadian GAAP, forfeitures of the share-based compensation awards could be accounted for in 
the period in which the forfeitures occurred. Under IFRS, compensation expense differs from 
Canadian GAAP based on the differing fair values used for each instalment, the application of 
the forfeiture rate and the timing of recognizing compensation expense. Generally, this results 
in accelerated expense recognition under IFRS. On the Transition Date, the Company recognized 
additional compensation expense of $4,993,006, which increased the Company’s deficit, with a 
corresponding offset to equity reserve. Total shareholders’ deficiency was not affected. Under 
IFRS, as compared to Canadian GAAP, share-based compensation expense for the year ended 
June 30, 2011 increased by $763,993.  

(d) Functional currency. Under Canadian GAAP, the functional currency of the parent Company 
and its subsidiaries was Canadian dollars. Under IFRS, the Company assessed that the parent 
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries’ functional currencies is U.S. dollars. The Company 
determined that, under IFRS, its functional currency would always have been U.S. dollars. This 
change was applied retrospectively and caused the value of a number of items in the statement 
of financial position and operating revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other 
than U.S. dollars to have values different under IFRS. Most significantly, under IFRS, this change 
resulted in the Company experiencing a foreign exchange gain of $3,514,259 for the year ended 
June 30, 2010, as compared to a foreign exchange loss of $1,753,754 under Canadian GAAP.  For 
the year ended June 30, 2011, this change resulted in revenue measured under IFRS being lower 
than what would have been reported under Canadian GAAP by an amount of $4,116,825, 
primarily as a result of the fact that our historical U.S. dollar denominated deferred revenues 
were recorded at an average foreign exchange rate of 1.0373. 

This change also impacted the Company’s deferred income tax recoveries and expenses due to 
the application of movements in foreign exchange rates against the Company’s future income 
tax assets, which are recorded as part of income tax recovery or expense.  Under Canadian 
GAAP, the Company experienced an income tax expense of $1,484,034 for the year ended June 
30, 2011 as compared to an income tax recovery of $968,812 under IFRS. 
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20. ADOPTION OF IFRS (Continued)  

(e) Deferred income taxes. Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income taxes (previously referred to 
as future income taxes) were classified as current or long term based on the underlying 
classification of the item in the statement of financial position on which it was calculated. Under 
IFRS, deferred income taxes are all long-term. Due to the change in the net book value of certain 
assets under IFRS, primarily related to the change in the Company’s functional currencies, 
deferred income taxes were affected accordingly.  At the Transition Date, the Company 
reclassed $9,303,691 from current to long-term deferred tax assets.  

The change in functional currency also impacted the Company’s deferred income tax recoveries 
and expenses due to the application of movements in foreign exchange rates against the 
Company’s future income tax assets.  These foreign exchange movements are recorded as part 
of income tax recovery or expense.  Under Canadian GAAP, the Company experienced an 
income tax expense of $1,486,000 for the year ended June 30, 2011 as compared to an income 
tax recovery of $968,812 under IFRS. 
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Corporate Headquarters
Absolute Software Corporation 
Suite 1600, Four Bentall Centre
1055 Dunsmuir Street
PO Box 49211
Vancouver, BC
Canada V7X 1K8
Tel: 1.800.220.0733 or 604.730.9851
Fax: 604.730.2621
www.absolute.com 

u.S. Headquarters
Absolute Software, Inc.
Suite 430, 11401 Century Oaks Terrace
Austin, Texas
USA 78758
Tel: 1.800.220.0733
 
european Headquarters
Absolute Software EMEA Limited
Aquis House
49-51 Blagrave Street
Reading, Berkshire
RG1 1PL England
Tel: +44.118.902.2000
Fax: +44.118.902.2010

Asia pacific Headquarters
Absolute Software (ASIA) Pte. Ltd. 
Unit 20, 2 Premier Suite,
One Mont Kiara, 1 Jalan Kiara,
Mont Kiara, 50480
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia




